#### **General Disclaimer**

#### One or more of the Following Statements may affect this Document

- This document has been reproduced from the best copy furnished by the organizational source. It is being released in the interest of making available as much information as possible.
- This document may contain data, which exceeds the sheet parameters. It was furnished in this condition by the organizational source and is the best copy available.
- This document may contain tone-on-tone or color graphs, charts and/or pictures, which have been reproduced in black and white.
- This document is paginated as submitted by the original source.
- Portions of this document are not fully legible due to the historical nature of some of the material. However, it is the best reproduction available from the original submission.

Produced by the NASA Center for Aerospace Information (CASI)

ACILITY FORM 602 (ACCESSION NUMBER) PAGE (NASA CR OR TMX OR AD NUMBER)

0

60 (THRU) (CODE 0 (CATEGORY)

NASA CR-72507

BOEING D2-121002-1



# SIMULATED SPACE ENVIRONMENTAL TESTS ON CADMIUM SULFIDE SOLAR CELLS

by K. L. Kennerud

THE BOEING COMPANY

prepared for

NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

NASA Lewis Research Center Contract NAS 3–6008 John J. Smithrick, Project Manager

# NASA CR-72507 BOEING D2-121002-1

### FINAL REPORT

# SIMULATED SPACE ENVIRONMENTAL TESTS ON CADMIUM SULFIDE SOLAR CELLS

by

K. L. Kennerud THE BOEING COMPANY Aerospace Group P. O. Box 3868 Seattle, Washington 98124

prepared for

# NATIONAL AERONAUTICS AND SPACE ADMINISTRATION

February 28, 1969

## CONTRACT NAS3-6008

NASA-Lewis Research Center Cleveland, Ohio John J. Smithrick, Project Manager Direct Energy Conversion Division

# PRECEDING PAGE BLANK NOT FILMED.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	ABSTRACT	viii
1.0	SUMMARY	1
2.0	INTRODUCTION	4
3.0	TEST SPECIMENS	6
	3.1 CdS Cells Tested in Phases I and II	7
	3.2 CdS Cells Tested in Phase III	8
4.0	TEST APPARATUS	10
	4.1 Test Environment Apparatus	10
	4.2 Data Acquisition Equipment	18
5.0	TEST PROCEDURES	28
6.0	DISCUSSION AND RESULTS	35
	6.1 Changes in Cell Performance Predicted by a Mathematical Model	35
	6.2 Reproducibility and Accuracy of Experimental Results	49
	6.3 Experimental Results	51
	6.3.1 April, 1967 Cells	51
	6.3.2 November, 1967 Cells	65
	6.3.3 March, 1968 Cells	83
7.0	CONCLUSIONS	103
8.0	REFERENCES	105
9.0	APPENDIX: SUMMARY OF EQUATIONS AND SYMBOL LIST	106
10.0	NEW TECHNOLOGY	109

#### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure No.		Page No.
1	Basic Construction of CdS Thin-Film Solar Cells	6
2	Schematic of Test Chamber	11
3	Test Setup	12
4	Intensity Uniformity of Spectrolab X25-L Solar Simulator	17
5	Test Cell Supporting Frame	19
6	I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell Using Tungsten Light Source	22
7	I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell Using Xenon Solar Simulator Light Source	23
8	Effect of Changing Light Intensity on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell	24
9	Solar Simulator Uniformity Scans	27
10	Test Cell Temperature Cycle	34
11	Effect of Changes in Series Resistance on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell	38
12	Effect of Changes in Shunt Resistance on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell	39
13	Effect of Changes in Light Generated Current on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell	40
14	Effect of a Change in Reverse Saturation Current on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell	41
15	Effect of Changes in Empirical Fitting Constant on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell	42
16	Performance Characteristics of a CdS Solar Cell vs Changing Geries Resistance	43

#### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS - Cont.

Figure No.		No.
17	Performance Characteristics of a CdS Solar Cell vs Changing Shunt Resistance	24.24
18	Performance Characteristics of a CdS Solar Cell vs Changing Light Generated Current	45
19	Performance Characteristics of a CdS Solar Cell vs Changing Reverse Saturation Current	46
20	Performance Characteristics of a CdS Solar Cell vs Changing Empirical Fitting Constant	47
21	Effect of Changes of Series Resistance on Equivalent Series Resistance	48
22-30	Electrical Performance vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured in April, 1967	54
	Control Cell No. Test Cell No.	
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	D535D    D557A      D535E    D545A      D536D    D537E      D536E    D536C      D537E    D537D      D538D    D536A      D563E    D535D      D545F    D534B      D545E    D533E	54 55 56 57 58 59 60 61 62
<u>эт</u>	Solar Cell	04
32-40	Electrical Performance vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured in November, 1967	68

v

#### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS - Cont.

٩;

Figure No.	`		Page No.
	Control Cell No.	Test Cell No.	
32	A970C	A970B	68
33	A970A	A969D	69
34	A39BK5	NH188AK2	70
35	N90BK1	NH200AK3	71
36	N90AK6	N39CK7	72
37	NH136CK6	N90AK5	73
38	N89CK2	N90BK <sup>1</sup> +	74
39	N89CK6	N90AK1	75
40	NBYCKI	N90 <b>AK</b> 9	76
41	Degraded I-V Curve of CdS Solar Cell	a November, 1967	79
42-50	Electrical Performance Solar Cells Manufactu	e vs Cycles For CdS ared in March, 1968	90
	Control Cell No.	Test Cell No.	
42	N150BK4	N151CK4	90
43	<b>N1</b> 50BK4	N150BK6	91
44	N15CCK3	N156AK4	92
45	N155BK9	N156CK2	93
46	N156AK6	N156AK5	94
47	N153BK6	N154BKG	95
48	N157CK2	N153AK3	96
49	N153AK7	N154CK1	97
50	N152BK7	N157BK2	98
51	Degraded I-V Curve of Solar Cell	'a March, 1968	101

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table No.		Page No.
1	Summary of Construction and Performance Characteristics of CdS Solar Cells Tested in Phase III	3
2	Characteristics of CdS Solar Cells Tested in Phases I and II	7
3	Transmission of Quartz Window	14
4	Spectral Intensity of Solar Simulator	16
5	Precision of Performance Data	50
6	Electrical Performance vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured during April, 1967	53
7	Electrical Performance vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured in November, 1967	67
8	Electrical Performance of CdS Solar Cells Before and After Thermal Cycling	77
9	Post-Cycling Performance of CdS Solar Cells Manufactured During November, 1967	81
10	Conversion Efficiency vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured in March, 1968	85
11	Relative Maximum Power vs Cycles for CdS Sclar Cells Manufactured in March, 1968	86
12	Relative Open Circuit Voltage vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured in March, 1968	87
13	Relative Short Circuit Current vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactured in March, 1968	88
14	Relative Fill Factor vs Cycles for CdS Solar Cells Manufactur@d in March, 1968	89
15	Post-Cycling Performance of CdS Solar Cells Manufactured During March, 1968	<b>99</b>

#### ABSTRACT

CdS thin-film solar cells, manufactured in 1967 and 1968 were subjected to a simulated space environment, similar to that encountered by a satellite in Earth orbit. The environment included a pressure less than  $10^{-6}$  torr, simulated space ultraviolet radiation, and thermal cycles in which cell temperature varied between  $-100^{\circ}$ C and  $+60^{\circ}$ C. Most cells exhibited a significant loss in power within 500 cycles, but one cell withstood over 2000 cycles without appreciable degradation. The degradation was characterized by: (1) increasing internal series resistance, (2) occasional internal shorting and (3) an unexplained loss in light generated current.

#### 1.0 SUMMARY

This final report contains the results of cadmium-sulfide (CdS) solar-cell tests conducted from March, 1967 to November, 1968 under Phase III of Contract NAS3-6008.

The primary objective of this test program was to evaluate the latest CdS thin-film solar cells for use in a space environment, particularly for supplying power to a satellite in Earth orbit where the cells are exposed to illumination and darkness. A secondary objective of this program was to use the test results to indicate possible causes of cell degradation.

The tests were conducted in a clean vacuum chamber where the pressure was below  $10^{-6}$  torr at all times. The black walls of the chamber were cooled by liquid nitrogen. During a "thermal cycle", consisting of a 60-minute exposure to simulated sunlight followed by 30 minutes of darkness, nominal cell temperature varied from  $+60^{\circ}$ C to  $-100^{\circ}$ C. Cell performance was measured using a light source whose spectrum closely matched that of space sunlight.

Three separate tests involving 300, 506, and 2031 thermal cycles were conducted on selected CdS cells manufactured in April, 1967, November, 1967, and March, 1968, respectively. The March, 1968 cells were the most stable in thermal cycling, as indicated below:



Cas solar cell power output vs. cycles

Six cell constructions were tested. Cell constructions differed in (1) method of attaching a current collecting grid to the cell (2) cover material and (3) process used in manufacture. The performance of these six groups before, during, and after thermal cyling is summarized in Table 1.

Most of the March, 1968 cells lost less than 15 percent in power output after 2031 thermal cycles. One cell degraded by only four percent, a value almost within experimental error. This cell had a current-collecting grid that had been evaporated on the cell surface. Power lasses in other March, 1968 cells are attributed to an increase in series resistance and a decrease in light generated current. The cause of these changes could not be identified. A few cells exhibited erratic decreases in shunt resistance. These decreases are attributed to internal short circuits.

		ទ	L DESCRIPTIC	N							CELL	PERFORMA	ICE				-
5								BEFORE	AFTER CYCLING				DURI	NE CYCLIN	ġ		
			CONVERSION EFFICIENCY		· · ·			CONVER	SION 7	LENGTH	OPERATING I Den	PERFORMA	NCE AV	ERAGE VAL At	UES OF PERF 600C	OBNANCE PARI	<b>KERS</b>
NARUFACTURE	CEL SEL	NUMBER	at 25° cV	SUBSTRATE	FRONT	GRID	REMARKS	at 60°	с Ф з	TEST	VOLTAGE	PARAMETE 737	X >	CTUAL ALUES	(PERCENT	OF CYCLE-1	VALUE)
UNE	Ë.	CELLS	(d)	MAIEKIAL	MATERIAL				<b>Z)</b>	(CYCLES)	KSFOERDAY.	×	0	rale-1	CYCLE 300	CYCLE 506	CYCLE 2031
APRIL 1967	-	<b>o</b>	3.7	KAPTON	NYLAR Coated VITH Clear Pyre	BONDED VI TH EPOXY		NOT MEASURED	NOT NEASURED	300	140	Production and the second seco	10 10 10	A	යයුෂය		
		-	4.89	COPPER	MYLAR	BONDED WITH EPOXY		4.56	4.06	506	118		H H (	4, 29 330 1095 8, 0	೪೫ವತಹ	55 <u>5</u> 23	
NOVENBER, 1967	~	<b></b>	5.04	COPPER	MYLAR	BONDED NI TH EPOXY		4.55	0.85	506	120			4,28 329 0,453 1075 67,6	22428	1.28833	en nægeren folger var ængelangsvar og
		Q	3.54	KAPTON	KAPTON	BONDED WITH EPOXY		2.97	2.73	206	8			22.96 0.420 835 0 835	ෂසිටිසුසු	සසුවසුනු	
	n	-	3.21	KAPTON	KAPTON	BONDED WITH EPOXY		2.68	2.13	506	80	7 PM (2) VM (V) FC (2)	. 10	2,28 175 0.424 760	88296	886558	a domanta in trade de dizade a ferte-
	4	4	3.57	KAPTON	KAPTON	BONDED NI TH EPOXY		2.99	2.66	2031	33		" <sup>#</sup> " <sup>#</sup> "	2,87 221 0,414 813 66_0	සසපිසස	සුසුසුසුස	පළපුසුනු
MARCH, 1968	S	m	3.40	KAPTON	KAPTON	BONDED WITH EPOXY	NATION NATION PRESSURE ON FRONT COVER	2.88	2.53	2031	5			210 210 789 64 0	ಜಜನ್ರಿಲ್ಲಿತ	පාපුසුනු	ප <b>ලප්දු</b> ලුහු කාලයක්තර
	9		3.21	KAPTON	XAPTON	BONDED WITH EPOXY	EVAPORAT- ED GRID BENEATH STANDARD GRID	2.67	1.96	2031	65	HINT H	N N N	2.47 190 727 764 727 727 727 727 727 727 727 727 727 72	පුපුපුසුප	සසිසුන	<b>*</b> *500%
		<b>~~</b>	2.50	KAPTON	KAPTON	BONDED NI TH EPOXY	EVAPORAT- ED GRID BENEATH Standard	2.16	2.11	2031	8			2.03 156 549 579	83223	සහිටිසහ	ෳඤුපුෂ
	NTENSI Surec, Surec, Sured, Tual VI	TY DURI IN AIR NON EFF IN SITU ALVES OF	IG ALL PERFO WITH THE C CIENCY; P; U, WITH THE U, WITH THE	RMANCE MEASI Ell Mounted = Maximum PC Cells Under Cells Under The April, 1	Rements M on a tempe der; V <sub>oc</sub> = vacuum. 1967 cells	is 140 mik/cm Rature-conti • Open Circu Are incorre	2, AMD. Rolled Blo 17 Voltage 37 Because	CK. ; T <sub>S</sub> c = Si OF A FAUL	IORT CIRCUI	IT CURRENT	; FF = rill. SIRCUIT.	FACTOR					

3

111

CdS SOLAR CELLS TESTED IN PHASE III

TABLE 1: SUMMARY OF CONSTRUCTION AND FERFORMANCE CHARACTERISTICS OF

#### 2.0 INTRODUCTION

Development of cadmium sulfide (CdS) thin-film solar cells started in 1954 (ref. 1). By 1960 conversion efficiencies as high as  $3\frac{1}{2}$  percent had been achieved (ref. 1), and CdS solar cells began to look promising as sources of power for spacecraft. In 1963 the NASA-Lewis Research Center (NASA-Lewis) began to evaluate new CdS solar cell designs in the vacuum and thermal environment of space (ref. 2 and 3). These tests soon showed that CdS solar cells subjected to thermal cycling in vacuum, as would be encountered by an Earth satellite, degraded very quickly. Thus, thermal cycling became established as an important test for evaluating new cell designs.

In 1964 NASA-Lewis awarded a two-phase contract (NAS3-6008) to The Boeing Company (Boeing) for conducting thermal cycling tests on promising new CdS solar cell designs, after the new designs had been screened in similar tests at NASA-Lewis. In these thermal cycling tests the cells were subjected to alternating periods of sunlight and darkness with temperatures varying from approximately  $-100^{\circ}$ C to  $+60^{\circ}$ C.

The thermal cycling tests at NASA-Lewis and Boeing uncovered weaknesses in the cell design and gave direction to the design and construction of more stable cells. Concurrently the cell manufacturer increased significantly the conversion efficiency of CdS solar cells. In 1967 NASA-Lewis awarded Boeing an extension (Phase III) to the original contract for evaluating newer cell designs. NASA-Lewis also continued their own thermal cycling program.

This document reports in detail the results of work done by Boeing for NASA-Lewis on Phase III of Contract NAS3-6008. Detailed results of the Phase I and Phase II work have been presented in a Topical Report (ref. 4). Many of the cell designs tested in Phase I and Phase II were shown to be unstable in a space environment

involving thermal cycling, and are no longer manufactured. Phase III testing involved never cells of the type that are presently being manufactured.

The Phase III cells incorporate many variations in design, with conversion efficiencies ranging from  $2\frac{1}{2}$  to 5 percent at  $25^{\circ}$ C in simulated air mass zero (AMO) sumlight having 140 milliwatts per sq. cm. (mW/cm<sup>2</sup>) intensity. Appropriate precaution should be applied to any extrapolation of the test results presente herein to production cells not manufactured in the same manner as the ones tested in this program,

The tests described in this report were conducted with CdS solar cells, mounted nine at a time in a vacuum chamber maintained at a pressure of less than 10<sup>-6</sup> torr. A quartz window allowed the cells to be illuminated by a light source that closely simulated the solar spectrum in space. The black walls of the chamber were cooled with liquid nitrogen so that the cell temperature dropped to lower than -100°C during the dark portion of each cycle and came to an equilibrium of about 460°C during the illuminated portion of each cycle. A complete thermal cycle consisted of 30 minutes of darkness followed by 60 minutes of illumination. Performance of the cells was usually measured about once every 100 cycles, but more frequently whenever cycling of the new cells was started. A matching set of CdS solar cells was kept in double-desiccated storage throughout the test and their performance was also measured every 100 cycles. In this report, the CdS solar cells exposed to the space environment are referred to as "test cells". Those kept in double desiccated storage are referred to as "control. cells".

#### 3.0 TEST SPECIMENS

The CdS thin-film solar cells tested in this program were approximately 3 by 3 inches (7.62 by 7.62 cm), with an overall thickness of about 4 mils ( $100 \,\mu$ m). Although the cells differed in many respects, they all shared the same basic construction illustrated below:



#### FIG. 1: BASIC CONSTRUCTION OF Cds THIN-FILM SOLAR CELLS

The cells were made by evaporating a layer of CdS on a thim sheet of metal or metalized plastic, called the substrate. A thin layer of copper sulfide called the barrier layer was then formed on the exposed CdS. A metal current-collecting grid with a high transmittance was later put on this barrier layer. Laminating a thim, transparent sheet of plastic over the grid completed the cell. The negative electrode of the cell is simply an extension of the substrate. The positive electrode is either an extension of the grid or a piece of metal foil attached to the grid.

#### 3.1 CdS Cells Tested in Phases I and II

rangel and the second secon Second second

ATTACIMENT LAMINATION MANUFACTURE SUBSTRATE GRID ADIESIVE DATE MATERIAL ELECTRODES ELECTRO-PRESSURE 1964 HOLYBDENUM CAPRAN PLATED SPOT ELECTRO-PLATED 1964 MOLYBDENUM CAPRAN **HELDED** PREFORMED, HILD BY PRESSURE KAPTON 1965 PRESSURE CAPRAN PREFORMED. 1966 KAPTON INTEGRAL CAPRAN HELD BY PRESSURE

Characteristics of the CdS solar cells tested in Phases I and II are summarized in the following table:

> CHARACTERISTICS OF Cds SOLAR CELLS TESTED IN PHASES I AND II

#### TABLE II

The earliest cells had molybdenum substrates, but later cells had plastic substrates. Plastic replaced molybdenum as a substrate material because it resulted in a lighter, more flexible solar cell. In some cells, the grid was formed by electroplating gold directly on the barrier layer. In other cells, preformed grids, held in contact with the barrier layer solely by pressure from the plastic cover, were used. The positive electrode on one type of cell was an integral extension of the grid, but in all other cells the positive electrode, distinct from the grid, was either spot welded to the grid or held against the grid by pressure from the plastic cover. Capran, a nylon adhesive, was used to bond the plastic cover in all the cells.

Testing at Boeing and NASA-Lewis revealed some undesirable aspects of these cell designs. In the Phase I and II thermal cycling tests conducted at Boeing (ref. 4), some cells in each of the four different groups eventually exhibited large decreases in both maximum power output and shunt resistance. These failures are believed to be the result of an increase in the number of shorting paths through the barrier layer (ref. 5).

In cells with either electrodes or grids held in place solely by pressure from the plastic cover, movements of the electrode or grid could have worn holes in the barrier layer, producing the undesired shorts. In cells with the electrodes spot welded to the grid, the welded joint may have eventually broken and allowed the electrode to move. Analyses conducted by the cell manufacturer on a few of the cells after thermal cycling revealed that the cause of the short circuits in the CdS film in those particular cells were pinholes which resulted from splattering of CdS particles onto the substrates during CdS film evaporation (ref. 6). Tests conducted at NASA-Lewis (ref. 7) also revealed that CdS cells using Capran to bond the plastic cover degraded when exposed to water vapor.

#### 3.2 CdS cells Tested in Phase III

Characteristics of the CdS solar cells tested in Phase III are summarized in Table 1. Most of the new cells had Kapton substrates; however two copper-substrate cells were tested also. The undesirable features of the CdS cells tested in Phases I and II had been eliminated in these new cell designs; for example a conductive epoxy held the grids in contact with the barrier layer, rather than pressure from the plastic cover. This reduced the shorting-type failures which plagued earlier cell designs during thermal cycling. Also in the new cell designs an integral extension of the grid formed the positive electrode. Better control of the evaporation process, and better inspection techniques eliminated pinholes in the CdS layer, reducing cell shorting. A clear epoxy replaced Capran as the lamination adhesive, preventing degradation from water vapor.

Three different types of plastic covers were used: (1) Mylar, (2) Mylar, coated with a 0.2 mil (5µm) layer of Pyre-ML (a polyimide varnish) and (3) Kapton. Mylar transmits light better than the other two types, but is known to degrade under exposure to ultraviolet (UV) radiation (ref. 8). The Pyre-ML layer decreased the initial transmission

of the Mylar by about five percent, but it may partially protect the Mylar from UV radiation. Kapton transmits about 20 percent less light than Mylar, but it is resistant to UV radiation (ref. 8). Since the conversion efficiency of CdS solar cells is proportional to the light transmitted by the front cover, the pre-cycling conversion efficiencies varied considerably, depending primarily upon the type of plastic cover used:

- (1) Cells with plain Mylar covers have the highest efficiencies
  (4.9 to 5.0 percent at 140 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>, 25°C).
- (2) Cells with Pyre-ML-coated-Mylar covers have the next higher efficiencies (3.5 to 4.1 percent at 140 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>, AMO, 25°C).
- (3) Cells with Kapton covers have the lowest efficiencies
  (2.5 to 3.9 percent at 140 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>, 25°C).

Several minor variations in the processing of the new cells are worth mentioning. The April, 1967 cells were manufactured with minimal quality control. As a result, many of these cells exhibited unstable performance even before thermal cycling was started. In three of the March, 1968 cells, the plastic cover was purposely laminated on with a below-normal pressure. It had been suggested that the normal lamination pressure could have cracked the CdS layer and produced a potentially unstable cell. Two of the March, 1968 cells have an additional evaporated gold grid beneath the standard preformed grid. The objective of this technique was to improve the current collection.

The cell designs tested in Phase III are currently available (December, 1968). However, it should be noted that many of the cells which Boeing tested were the most promising cells selected from screening tests conducted by the cell manufacturer and NASA-Lewis, and therefore they may not represent typical production cells.

#### 4.0 TEST APPARATUS

In this section is discussed the apparatus used to provide the test environment and the data acquisition equipment.

#### 4.1 Test Environment Apparatus

The test environment apparatus includes a vacuum chamber, a light source, a test-cell supporting frame, and a control-cell mounting block. The test-cell supporting frame, used to hold the testcells during thermal cycling, was located inside the vacuum chamber. The control-cell mounting block, used to hold control-cells when their performance was being measured, was located outside the vacuum chamber. The light source could be rotated to illuminate either the test-cells or the control cells. The test setup is shown schematically in Figure 2. A photograph appears in Figure 3. The apparatus used is discribed in detail in the following paragraphs.

#### 4.1.1 Vacuum Chamber

The vacuum chamber (Figure 2) is composed of a shell, a cold shroud, an end plate, an access door, a quartz window, a shutter, a mounting bracket for the test cell supporting frame, and a vacuum pump. The shell of the chamber is built from two stainless steel cylinders, one 15 inches in diameter and 41 inches long, and the other 34 inches in diameter and 30 inches long. The smaller-diameter end has a sealed quartz window through which the CdS cells are illuminated. The other end has an access door. Vacuum is maintained by an ion pump under the shell.

The shell always remains near room temperature. The heat sink simulating a true space environment within the chamber is provided by a cold shroud, composed of two aluminum cylinders of different diameters joined end-to-end. The cold shroud fits inside the shell with a two-inch concentric gap between the shroud and the shell.



Figure 2: SCHEMATIC OF TEST CHAMBER



The shroud is essentially isolated thermally from the shell, being supported at only 5 points with low-thermal-conductivity stainless steel. The shroud is cooled to -196°C during testing by pumping liquid nitrogen through tubes which are integral with the shroud. All inner surfaces of the shroud are painted black to reduce reflection of thermal radiation. Liquid-nitrogen cooled baffles inside the shroud further reducing reflections.

A blackened aluminum plate bolted to the end of the cold shroud, cooled to  $-160^{\circ}$ C by conduction to the cold shroud, covers the cellaccess opening during testing. The chamber is sealed, at the cellaccess end, with a stainless steel door which is bolted against a copper gasket that is replaced whenever the door is opened.

The quartz window which admits simulated sunlight into the chamber transmits 94 percent of the ultraviolet energy in the wavelength band 0.25 to 0.35 pm. Transmission in other wavelengths ranges from 88.3 percent to 96.7 percent, as shown in Table 3.

A shutter between the solar simulator and the quartz window interrupts the light beam when the test cells in the chamber are to receive no light from the solar simulator. The shutter is painted black to reduce reflection of room light from the shutter into the chamber. The shutter is water-cooled to reduce the infrared energy radiated by the shutter into the chamber. During cycling the shutter is automatically closed for 30 minutes and opened for 60 minutes.

A mounting bracket supports the test-cell frame in the chamber. The mounting bracket is fastened only to the shell, making no contact with the cold shroud. It is made of low-thermal-conductivity stainless steel, to restrict heat conduction to the shell.

A mechanical roughing pump and an ion pump are used to provide vacuum. The roughing pump brings the chamber pressure down to

Wavelength Band (mm)	Fraction of Incident Light Emergy Transmitted Through Quartz Window
/	(percent)
0.25 - 0.35	93•9
0:35 - 0.40	95.2
0.40 - 0.45	92.5
0.45 - 0.50	96.4
0.50 - 0.60	94.8
0.60 - 0.70	92.8
0.70 - 0.80	95.2
0.80 - 0.90	92.3
0.90 - 1.00	96.7
1.00 - 1.20	95 <b>.7</b>
1.20 - 1.50	93.0
1.50 - 1.80	91.1
1.80 - 2.20	88.3
2.20 - 2.50	90.5

# TABLE 3: TRANSMISSION OF QUARTZ WINDOW

 $10^{-4}$  torr, after which the ion pump is started and the roughing pump is removed. The ion pump maintains a pressure of  $10^{-8}$  torr during cycling when there is liquid nitrogen in the shroud, and  $10^{-6}$  torr during test interruptions when the shroud is at room temperature. The pressure increases to  $10^{-6}$  torr during test interruptions because of gas released from the shroud surface when the shroud is allowed to warm up.

#### 4.1.2 Light Source

The light source is a Spectrolab X25L xenon solar simulator, equipped with lenticular optics for high uniformity of intensity, and special filters to provide a spectrum close to that of space sunlight. It is located outside the vacuum chamber (Figure 2) providing a 131-inch diameter light beam to illuminate simultaneously nine test-cells in the vacuum chamber. The spectrum of the beam matched Johnson's space spectrum (ref. 9) very closely, as shown by the typical spectrum in Table 4. The intensity at any place in the beam did not deviate from that in the center by more than three percent as shown in the typical uniformity plot in Figure 4. An intensity equivalent to 140 milliwatts per sq. cm (mw/cm<sup>2</sup>) of space sunlight was maintained throughout the test by periodically checking with an airplane-flown CdS standard cell provided by NASA-Lewis. A rapid intensity flicker of about  $l\frac{1}{2}$  percent, presumably caused by the xenon lamp, made precise intensity and uniformity measurements difficult as well as producing undesirable wiggles in the current-voltage curves of the CdS solar cells.

#### 4.1.3 Test-Cell Supporting Frame

Two different types of supporting frames were used in this program to hold the test-cells. The April, 1957 and November, 1967 cells were held in a aluminum supporting frame composed of two thin aluminum discs bolted together with cutouts to expose the fronts and back of the cells. Both electrodes of the April, 1967 cells were

SIMULATOR
OF SOLAR
INTENSI TY
SPECTRAL
ABLE 4.

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	а К С	Wave Int (mi	length erval crons)	Spect: Outs Char Cont	ral Inten side Vacu mber when trol Cell	sity um Weesured	Spect Inside V When Performs	tral Inte /acuum Ch a Test Ce ince is M	nsity Amber 11 Fasured	Spec Inside When Bei	tral Inte Vacuum Ch Tëst Cell ng Cycled	nsity amber s are
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			to	Actual	Devia from Joh	tion nson's*	Actual	Deviat from Joh	ion nson's*	Actual	Devi from Jo	ation's
0:25      0.40      7.46      +1.30      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33      5.46      -0.84      -13:33        0.40      0.45      7.58      -21.04      -21.21      7.48      -2.14      -22.25      7.48      -2.14      -22.14      -22.14      -22.14      -22.14      -21.41      26.03      -0.45      21.41      26.03      -0.45      21.41      26.01      21.41      22.52      21.41      22.51      12.41      22.51      12.41      22.51      12.41      22.51      12.41      22.51      12.51      12.51      12.51      12.51      12.56      21.46      2.51      12.	T			$(m_v/cm^2)$	(шw/сm <sup>2</sup> )	( %)	$(mw/cm^2)$	$(m_{\rm M}/cm^2)$	(%)	$(mu/cm^2)$	(mu/cm <sup>2</sup> )	(%)
0.25      0.35      5.45      -0.85      -13.49      5.46      -0.84      -13.33        0.35      0.40      7.46      +1.30      +21.10      7.57      +1.41      +22.89      7.57      +1.41      +22.89        0.40      0.45      7.56      -2.04      -21.21      7.48      -2.14      -22.25        0.40      0.45      7.58      -2.04      -21.71      7.48      -2.14      -22.25        0.45      0.50      8.75      -1.69      -17.76      9.00      -1.541      9.00      -1.64      -15.41        0.50      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.217      -16.53      16.01      -3.17      -16.53        0.50      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -13.61        0.70      0.89      -3.25      -0.39      -3.06      1.4.03      -2.21      -13.61        0.70      0.89      12.77      3.261      14.03      2.221      -13.61        0.70      1.20 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>												
0.35      0.40      7.46      +1.30      +21.10      7.57      +1.41      +22.89      7.57      +1.41      +22.85        0.40      0.45      7.58      -20.44      -21.21      7.48      -21.14      -22.25        0.40      0.45      7.58      -2.04      -21.21      7.48      -2.14      -22.25        0.45      0.50      8.75      -1.89      -17.76      9.00      -1.64      15.41      9.00      -1.64      15.41      -22.21        0.50      0.50      15.83      -3.35      -17.47      16.01      -3.17      -16.53      16.01      -3.17      -16.53        0.50      0.50      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -1.64      15.41        0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -1.65      -1.42        0.70      0.89      12.35      -0.39      -3.06      12.55      -0.19      1.6.03      -1.64      -1.5.4        0.70      1.00      8.91      -0.73      12.56		0.25	0.35	5.45	-0.85	-13.49	5.46	-0.84	-13.33	5.46	-0.84	-13.33
0.40      0.45      7.58      -2.04      -21.21      7.48      -2.14      -22.25      7.48      -2.14      -22.33        0.45      0.50      8.75      -1.89      -17.76      9.00      -1.64      -1.5.41      9.00      -1.64      -15.41        0.50      8.75      -1.89      -17.47      16.01      -3.17      -1.64      -1.5.41        0.50      0.50      15.83      -3.35      -17.47      16.01      -3.17      -1.64      -15.41        0.50      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.77      14.03      -2.21      -13.61      -1.49        0.60      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.77      14.03      -2.21      -13.61      -14.65        0.70      0.891      +0.79      9.13      -0.26      -9.42      -9.42      -9.42        0.700      1.20      1.20      1.20      12.20      -1.49      12.56      +1.16      +1.33        0.700      1.20      1.20      1.20      1.20      1.20      +1.20      +1.20		0.35	0.40	7.46	+1.30	+21.10	7.57	+1.41	+22.89	7.57	+1.41	+22.89
0.45      0.50      8.75      -1.89      -17.76      9.00      -1.64      -1.6.1      9.00      -1.6.4      -15.41      9.00      -1.64      -15.41        0.50      0.60      15.83      -3.35      -17.47      16.01      -3.17      -16.53      16.01      -3.17      -16.53      -13.61        0.60      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -13.61      14.03      -2.21      -13.61        0.60      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -13.61      -1.49        0.70      0.80      12.35      -0.39      -3.06      12.55      -0.19      1.49      12.55      -0.19      -1.49        0.90      1.00      8.91      -0.79      +3.20      12.60      +13.30      14.03      +13.30        1.00      1.20      1.20      +3.20      14.03      14.03      14.04      13.36      14.03      14.05      14.05      14.05      14.05      14.05      14.05      14.05      14.05      14.1		0.40	0.45	7.58	-2.04	-21.21	7.48	-2.14	-22.25	7.48	-2.14	-22.25
0.50      0.60      15.83      -3.35      -17.4r      16.01      -3.17      -16.53      16.01      -3.17      -16.53        0.66      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -13.61      14.03      -2.21      -13.61        0.70      0.80      12.35      -0.39      -3.06      12.75      -0.19      14.03      -2.21      -13.61        0.70      0.80      12.35      -0.39      -3.06      12.55      -0.19      1.49      12.55      -0.19      -1.49        0.70      0.80      12.35      -0.61      9.13      9.20      +1.09      10.95      -9.42      9.13.60        1.00      1.20      15.67      +3.49      +28.65      16.00      +3.82      +31.36      16.00      +3.82      +31.36        1.20      1.20      1.20      +3.49      42.65      8.73      +4.2.65      441.61      8.78      +2.91      10.96      -0.24      -2.14      10.96      -0.24      -2.14      10.96      -0.24      -2.14      10.9		0.45	0.50	8.75	-1.89	-17.76	9.00	<del>1</del> 9.1-	-15.41	9.00	-1.64	-15.41
0.60      0.70      14.17      -2.07      -12.75      14.03      -2.21      -13.61      14.03      -2.21      -13.61        0.70      0.80      12.35      -0.39      - 3.06      12.55      -0.19      -1.49      12.55      -0.19      -1.49        0.70      0.80      12.35      -0.81      -8.04      9.13      -0.95      -9.42      9.13      -0.95        0.90      12.01      4.91      4.01      4.01      9.13      -0.95      -9.42      9.13      -0.42        1.00      1.20      15.67      4.3.49      428.65      16.00      43.82      431.61      -2.14        1.20      1.50      11.04      -0.16      -1.43      10.96      -0.24      -2.14      -2.14        1.20      1.50      11.04      -0.16      -1.43      10.96      -0.24      -2.14      -2.14        1.80      2.03      42.53      441.61      8.78      42.69      441.61        1.80      2.20      3.445.65      8.78      41.40      72.92 <t< td=""><td></td><td>0.50</td><td>0.60</td><td>15.83</td><td>-3-35</td><td>-17.47</td><td>16.01</td><td>-3.17</td><td>-16.53</td><td>10.91</td><td>-3.17</td><td>-16.53</td></t<>		0.50	0.60	15.83	-3-35	-17.47	16.01	-3.17	-16.53	10.91	-3.17	-16.53
0.70    0.80    12.35    -0.39    - 3.06    12.55    -0.19    1.49    12.55    -0.19    - 1.49      0.80    0.90    9.27    -0.81    - 8.04    9.13    -0.95    - 9.42    9.13    -0.95    - 9.42      0.90    1.00    8.91    +0.79    + 9.73    9.20    +1.08    +13.30    9.20    +1.08    +13.30      1.00    1.20    15.67    +3.49    +28.65    16.00    +3.82    +31.36    16.00    +3.82    +31.30      1.20    1.20    1.50    11.04    -0.16    -1.43    10.96    -0.24    -2.14      1.20    1.50    11.04    -0.16    -1.43    10.96    -0.24    -2.14      1.80    2.20    5.99    +1.55    8.78    +2.58    +1.61    8.78    +2.59      1.80    2.20    5.99    +1.52    734.91    5.64    +1.20    +72.92    -0.14    -72.92      2.20    2.59    140.0    3.32    +1.40    +72.92    3.32    +1.40    +72.92    .140.02 <td></td> <td>0.60</td> <td>0.70</td> <td>14.17</td> <td>-2.07</td> <td>-12.75</td> <td>14.03</td> <td>-2.21</td> <td>-13.61</td> <td>14.03</td> <td>-2.21</td> <td>-13.61</td>		0.60	0.70	14.17	-2.07	-12.75	14.03	-2.21	-13.61	14.03	-2.21	-13.61
(0.80 $0.90$ $9.27$ $-0.81$ $-8.04$ $9.13$ $-0.95$ $-9.42$ $9.13$ $-0.95$ $-9.42$ $0.90$ $1.00$ $8.91$ $+0.79$ $+9.73$ $9.20$ $+1.08$ $+13.30$ $9.20$ $+1.08$ $+13.30$ $1.00$ $1.20$ $15.67$ $+3.49$ $+28.65$ $16.00$ $+3.82$ $+31.36$ $16.00$ $+3.82$ $+31.36$ $1.20$ $1.50$ $11.04$ $-0.16$ $-1.43$ $10.96$ $-0.24$ $-2.14$ $10.96$ $-0.24$ $-2.14$ $1.20$ $1.50$ $11.04$ $-0.16$ $-1.43$ $10.96$ $-0.24$ $-2.14$ $10.96$ $-0.24$ $-2.14$ $1.20$ $1.50$ $11.04$ $-0.16$ $-1.43$ $10.96$ $-2.14$ $10.96$ $-0.24$ $-2.14$ $1.20$ $1.80$ $9.03$ $+2.63$ $+45.65$ $8.78$ $+2.58$ $+41.61$ $8.78$ $+2.58$ $1.80$ $2.20$ $3.44$ $+1.52$ $8.78$ $+2.703$ $5.64$ $+1.20$ $+72.92$ $2.20$ $2.40$ $140.2$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $1.905$ $2.50$ $3.44$ $+1.52$ $+79.17$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $4.1.40$ $+72.92$ $1.905$ $2.50$ $3.44$ $+1.52$ $+79.17$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $5.64$ $+1.20$ $1.905$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $5.64$ $+1.56$ $-1.40$ $-1.40$ $1.805$		0.70	0.80	12.35	-0.39	- 3.06	12.55	-0.19	- 1.49	12.55	-0.19	- 1.49
0.901.008.91+0.79+ 9.739.20+1.08+13.309.20+1.08+13.301.001.2015.67+3.49+28.6516.00+3.82+31.3616.00+3.82+31.361.201.5011.04-0.16-1.4310.96-0.24-2.1410.96-0.24-2.141.501.809.03+2.83+45.658.73+2.58+41.618.78+2.58+41.611.802.205.99+1.55+34.915.64+1.20+27.035.64+1.602.202.503.44+1.52+79.173.32+1.40+72.923.32+1.402.202.503.44+1.52+79.173.32+1.40+72.923.32+1.402.202.503.44140.0140.2140.23.32+1.40+72.92*27.032.202.503.4410.5140.23.32+1.40+72.92*27.032.202.503.4410.5140.2140.2140.2*26.41.802.603.445.64140.2140.2140.22.10140.0140.0140.22.56140.6*25.53.2140.0140.2140.2140.2140.23.43.5140.2140.2140.2140.23.8140.0140.2140.2140.2140.23.8140.010.510.510.5140.		0.80	0.90	9.27	-0.81	- 8.04	9.13	-0-95	- 9.42	9.13	-0.95	- 9.42
1.001.2015.67+3.49+28.6516.00+3.82+31.3616.00+3.82+31.361.201.5011.04-0.16-1.4310.96-0.24-2.1410.96-0.24-2.141.501.809.03+2.83+45.658.73+2.58+41.618.78+2.58+41.611.802.205.99+1.55+34.915.64+1.20+27.035.64+1.20+72.922.202.503.44+1.52+79.173.32+1.40+72.923.32+1.40+72.922.202.503.44+1.52+79.173.32+1.40+72.923.32+1.40+72.922.202.503.441.52140.2140.2140.2140.2140.2140.2140.2tract:Nas140.0140.2140.23.32+1.40*72.923.32+1.40*72.92SP-8005Solar Electromagnetic Radiation, June, 1965Inde.140.2140.2140.2140.2140.2se:IIISolar Simulator Model No.Spectrolab X251Spectrolab X251Spectrolab X251Spectrolab X251se:221967CellsIam NumberHanovai #731002		0.00	1.00	8.91	62.0+	+ 9.73	9.20	41.08	+13.30	9.20	+1.08	+13.30
1.201.5011.04-0.16-1.4310.96-0.24-2.1410.96-0.24-2.141.501.809.03+2.63+45.658.73+2.58+41.618.78+2.58+41.611.802.205.99+1.55+34.91 $5.64$ +1.20 $+72.03$ $5.64$ +1.20 $+72.92$ 2.202.503.44+1.52+79.17 $3.32$ +1.40 $+72.92$ $3.32$ +1.40 $+72.92$ 2.202.503.44+1.52 $+70.17$ $3.32$ +1.40 $+72.92$ $3.32$ +1.40 $+72.92$ 2.202.503.44 $+1.52$ $+70.17$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $3.22$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ 2.202.503.44 $+1.52$ $+70.17$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ 2.802.80140.0140.2 $140.2$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $140.2$ 3.1003.603140.0 $5.64$ $10.65$ $3.11/63$ $140.2$ $140.2$ ase:III $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ 1.40 $5.64$ $10.2$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $10.65$ $5.64$ $1.40.2$ $5.64$ $10.2$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.603$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.603$ $5.603$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.64$ $5.603$ $5.603$ $5.64$ <t< td=""><td></td><td>1.00</td><td>1.20</td><td>15.67</td><td>+3.49</td><td>+28.65</td><td>16.00</td><td>+3.82</td><td>+31.36</td><td>16.00</td><td>+3.82</td><td>+31.36</td></t<>		1.00	1.20	15.67	+3.49	+28.65	16.00	+3.82	+31.36	16.00	+3.82	+31.36
1.501.809.03+2.83+45.65 $8.73$ +2.58+41.61 $8.78$ +2.58+41.611.802.205.99+1.55+34.91 $5.64$ +1.20 $27.03$ $5.64$ +1.20 $27.03$ 2.202.503.44+1.52 $479.17$ $3.32$ +1.40 $472.92$ $3.32$ +1.40 $472.92$ 2.202.50 $3.44$ +1.52 $479.17$ $3.32$ $41.40$ $472.92$ $3.32$ $41.40$ $472.92$ 2.202.50 $3.44$ $41.52$ $470.17$ $3.32$ $41.40$ $472.92$ $3.32$ $41.40$ 2.202.50 $3.44$ $41.52$ $470.17$ $3.32$ $41.40$ $472.92$ $472.92$ 3.905Solar Electromagnetic Radiation, June, 1965Date Measured: $3/11/63$ $3/11/63$ ase:IIISolar Simulator Model No.Spectrolab X25Lase:III $2.0003$ Lamp NumberHanovai $4731002$		1.20	1.50	11.04	-0.16	- 1.43	10.96	-0.24	41.2 -	10.96	-0.24	+1.5 -
1.802.205.99+1.55+34.91 $5.64$ +1.20+27.03 $5.64$ +1.20+27.032.202.503.44+1.52+79.17 $3.32$ +1.40+72.92 $3.32$ +1.40+72.922.00 $3.44$ +1.52 $+79.17$ $3.32$ +1.40 $+72.92$ $3.32$ +1.40 $+72.92$ 2.50 $3.44$ +1.52 $+79.17$ $3.32$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ $+72.92$ 2.50 $5.64$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $140.2$ $+1.40$ $+72.92$ SP-8005Solar Electromagnetic Radiation, June, 1965 $140.2$ $3.11/63$ $3/11/63$ $5.6003$ atract:NAS 3-6003Date Measured: $3/11/63$ $5.64$ $Nodel No. Spectrolab X25L$ att2(November, 1967 Cells)Lamp NumberHanovai #731002		1.50	1.80	9.03	+2.83	+45.65	8.73	+2.58	+41.61	8.78	+2.58	19.14+
2.20    2.50    3.44    +1.52    +79.17    3.32    +1.40    +72.92    3.32    +1.40    +72.92      ty    0    0    0    140.0    140.2    140.2    140.2    140.2    140.2      SP-8005, Solar Electromagnetic Radiation, June, 1965    140.2    140.2    140.2    140.2      srediation    June, 1965    501ar Simulator    3/11/68    2/11/68    50251      ase:    III    Solar Simulator    Solar Simulator    Spectrolab X251      ast:    2    (November, 1967 Cells)    Lamp Number    Hanovai #731002		1.80	2.20	5.99	+1.55	+34.91	5.64	+1.20	+27.03	5.64	+1.20	+27.03
ty 0 <b>0</b> 140.0 140.0 140.2 140.2 140.2 140.2 SP-3005, Solar Electromagnetic Radiation, June, 1965 action 3/11/68 ase: III Solar Simulator Model No. Spectrolab X25L st: 2 (November, 1967 Cells) Lamp Number Hanovai #731002		2.20	2.50	3.44	+1.52	+79.17	3.32	07.1+	+72.92	3,32	-1.40	+72.92
SP-8005, Solar Electromagnetic Radiation, June, 1965ntract: NAS 3-6003ntract: NAS 3-6003se:IIIse:IIIsc:2(November, 1967 Cells)Lamp NumberHanovai #731002	Ĺty	0	8	140.0			140.2			140.2		
atract: NAS 3-6003 Date Measured: 3/11/68 ase: III Solar Simulator Model No. Spectrolab X25L st: 2 (November, 1967 Cells) Lamp Number Hanovai #731002	S	-3005,	Solar	Electromag	netic Rad	liation,	June, 19	65				
st: 2 (November, 1967 Cells) Lamp Number Hanovai #731002	ltr Ise	act:	NAS 3- TTT	6003			Date Me	asured:	3/11/	/68	10A 4212-	ŀ
	st:	•	2	(November,	1967 Cel	ls)	Lamp Nu	mber	Hanov	rai #7310	02	1

Readings: Relative short circuit current (percent of value at center of beam) of a 2 X 2 cm silicon solar cell centered on the points shown below. The circles are on one-inch radii.



FIGURE 4: INTENSITY UNIFORMITY OF SPECTROLAB X25-L SOLAR SIMULATOR firmly sandwiched between the two plates. Only one electrode on the November, 1967 cells were constrained. A glass-epoxy board was used to hold the March, 1968 cells. This frame was essentially a disc with a rectangular cutout in its middle (Figure 5). The substrate electrode of each cell was attached with double-back tape to cross bars which spanned the cutout. Each cell was allowed to hang freely, with its positive electrode constrained within a 1/16inch slot in a cross bar beneath it. Both types of frames were painted black and had silicon solar cells (reference cells) mounted on their front surfaces.

During testing, the test-cell supporting frame was held by the stainless-steel mounting bracket in the vacuum chamber.

#### 4.1.4 Control Cell Mounting Block

Whenever the electrical performance of a control-cell was to be measured, the cell was mounted on the control-cell mounting block (Figure 3) and illuminated with the light source. The temperature of the metal mounting block is controlled by a recirculating water supply. Good thermal contact between the block and the control cell is assured by applying vacuum to grooves in the front of the block. Electrical contact to the cell is made with gold-plated copper strips held by pressure against the cell electrodes: (1) two large-area strips, one on each electrode, make contact for the current-carrying leads, and (2) two small area strips, one on each electrode, make contact for the voltage measuring leads. The mounting block and the airplaneflown CdS standard cell were both mounted on the same sliding plate so that either one could be centered in the light beam.

#### 4.2 Data Acquisition Equipment

The data are acquired with (1) instruments for measuring the



electrical performance of the CdS solar cells, (2) instruments for measuring the temperature of the CdS solar cells, and (3) instruments for measuring the intensity, uniformity, and spectrum of the light source.

4.2.1 CdS Solar Cell Performance Measurement

The important equipment used to record current-voltage (I-V) curves of the test-cells and control cells are: (1) a digital voltmeter (2) an XY recorder (3) a precision resistor and (4) an electronic load. Electrical contact to the cell electrodes is made with a pair of current-carrying leads and a pair of voltagemeasuring leads. Four copper wires were soldered to the test-cell electrodes.

The voltage measuring leads were connected directly into the X-axis of the XY plotter. The current carrying leads contained two elements in series; a precision one-ohm resistor and an electronic load. The voltage drop across the one-ohm resistor, representing the current flowing in the cell, was fed directly into the Y-axis of the XY plotter. The digital voltmeter was used to calibrate the voltage and current signals to the XY plotter. The variable scales of the X and Y axes of the plotter were adjusted to correspond to the readings of the digital voltmeter. The electronic load, designed and built at Boeing, was used to vary the current by means of a manually-operated dial.

The accuracy of the digital voltmeter is  $\pm 0.1$  percent. The digital voltmeter was periodically calibrated against a secondary standard whose accuracy is traceable to the National Bureau of Standards (NBS). The accuracy with which the XY plotter recorded the current and voltage was limited by its repeatability and the precision with which each axis could be calibrated against the digital voltmeter. The XY plotter accuracy is estimated on this basis at 0.5 percent. The one-ohm resistor is accurate to  $\pm 0.1$  percent.

The smoothness of the recorded I-V curve is directly related to the stability of the light source used to illuminate the cell whose I-V curve is being recorded. An I-V curve traced when a stable tungsten light source was used is very smooth (Figure 6) whereas a wiggly curve is obtained when a xenon solar simulator is used(Figure 7). Flicker im the light produced by the solar simulator is responsible for these wiggles. The effect of light flicker was further demonstrated when the intensity of the tungsten light source was purposely varied a few percent while an I-V curve was being traced (Figure 8).

The effect of the intensity variation on the I-V curve is a drastic change in voltage at currents near short-circuit current. This is because the electronic load maintains a constant current at any setting of the load dial regardless of fluctuatings in intensity; consequently the voltage of the cell must change drastically as the intensity changes to maintain constant current.

During the periods between performance measurements, a load resistor was placed across the current leads of the test cells. The load resistors were selected so that the cells would operate near their maximum power point. However, in testing of the April, 1967 cells, the effect of lead resistance was overlooked and the combined load resistance values were too high. As a result these cells operated near their open circuit voltages during cycling.

#### 4.2.2 CdS Solar Cell Temperature Measurement

The sensor used for all temperature measurements was a thermocouple formed by soldering a copper wire and a constantan wire together. The thermocouple was coated with heat-sink compound to insure good thermal contact prior to bonding to the back of the CdS cell (Figure 5) with aluminum tape. A narrow bead of low-temperature polyurethane adhesive was applied along the four edges of the tape as a precaution against peeling. The tape was then painted with a black paint whose emittance approximated that of the cell back.



# FIGURE 6: I-V CURVE OF A CdS SOLAR CELL USING TUNGSTEN LIGHT SOURCE





# FIGURE 8: EFFECT OF A CHANGING LIGHT INTENSITY ON THE 1-V CURVE OF A CAS SOLAR CELL

A thermocouple was soldered to the back of each silicon reference cell and thermocouples were bonded to the front and back of the test cell supporting frame as well as to the end plate of the cold shroud in the vacuum chamber. Copper-constantan feed-through connectors were used to route the thermocouple leads out of the vacuum chamber. The temperature of the control-cell mounting block was measured with a thermocouple imbedded in the side of the block. All thermocouples were connected to a temperature recorder which printed the output of each thermocouple once every  $2\frac{1}{2}$  minutes. The recorder could also display continuously the output of any one thermocouple. A reference junction compensator in the recorder facilitated display of the thermocouple outputs directly in <sup>o</sup>C.

Temperatures between  $-150^{\circ}$ C and  $\pm 100^{\circ}$ C could be recorded with an accuracy of  $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C and a reproducibility of  $\pm 1^{\circ}$ C. The temperature recorder was periodically calibrated against a secondary standard whose accuracy is traceable to the NBS.

#### 4.2.3 Solar Simulator Light-Intensity Measurement

The true intensity of the light beam in the test plane was measured with a radiometer whose response to radiation is essentially independent of wavelength. Its range of response was  $.25\mu$  m to  $2.7\mu$ m. Its estimated accuracy in sunlight is  $\pm 3.5$  percent. The radiometer was periodically checked against a secondary standard radiometer which had been calibrated at Table Mountain, California.

The equivalent space sunlight intensity, as seen by a CdS solar cell, was determined with an encapsulated CdS standard cell which had been calibrated in an airplane at high altitudes and whose output was extrapolated to air-mass zero conditions.

4.2.4 Solar Simulator Light-Spectrum Measurement

Because the spectrum of the solar simulator is not identical to that of space sunlight, the true intensity measured with the radiometer

was slightly different from the equivalent space sunlight (AMO) intensity measured with the CdS standard cell. However the two measurements always agreed within 2 percent. The equivalent space sunlight (AMO) intensity was used throughout this report for calculating the conversion efficiency of CdS solar cells. The true intensity was used only in processing the spectrum data.

The relative spectrum of the light beam was determined with a prism-type spectroradiometer which recorded the relative energy contained within a .05  $\mu$  m bandwidth, scanning the wavelength region from .25  $\mu$  m to 2.5  $\mu$  m. The accuracy of the relative energy recorded by the spectrophotometer was  $\pm$  10 percent. The spectroradiometer was calibrated periodically with a NBS 1000-watt standard of irradiance and a magnesium diffusing block.

#### 4.2.5 Solar Simulator Light-Uniformity Measurement

The uniformity of the light beam was determined by recording the short circuit current of a 2 x 2 cm silicon solar cell mounted on a rotary scanner. The output of this cell was recorded at the center of the beam and then continuously while roated at radii of 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 inches about the center. The output of this silicon cell vs. angle at each circle for a typical uniformity scan is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9: SOLAR SIMULATOR UNIFORMITY SCANS
### 5.0 TEST PROCEDURES

ź

During Phase III of this program, three consecutive thermal cycling tests were conducted on CdS solar cells manufactured in April, 1967, November, 1967, and March, 1968. Each test had nine CdS solar cells (test cells) mounted in the vacuum chamber at a pressure less than  $10^{-6}$  torr. Thermal cycling was produced by exposing the cells to 30 minutes of darkness followed by 60 minutes of illumination; the cell temperatures dropped to less than  $-100^{\circ}$ C during the dark portion of each cycle and came to an equilibrium of about  $+60^{\circ}$ C during the illuminated portion of each cycle. Control cells were kept in double-desicated storage.

The first test, involving the April, 1967 cells, ran for 368 thermal cycles. The second test, involving November, 1967 cells, ran for 533 thermal cycles. The third test, involving March, 1967 cells, ran for 2031 thermal cycles. In all of these tests, the electrical performance of both the test-cells and control cells was measured at least once every 100 cycles. During the first 300 cycles of each test, the performance of the test-cells was measured more often: once every ten cycles for the first 100 cycles and once every 30 cycles for the next 200 cycles. In addition to the performance measurements made during cycling, performance measurements were also made before and after cycling - some <u>in situ</u> and others not. The performance measurements consisted primarily of tracing the currentvoltage (I-V) curve of the cells under known conditions of light intensity and temperature.

Initially, cycling was conducted continuously five days a week, although occasionally solar simulator lamp failures and laboratory power failures required additional suspension of cycling. When other tests were being conducted in the laboratory on weekends, cycling was continued 7-days-a-week. Installation of automatic monitoring and safety controls was completed in August, 1968, permitting cycling on

a 24-hour-per-day, 7-day-per-week basis.

### 5.1 Startup of Cycling

After the test-cell supporting frame containing the test cells was installed in the chamber, a mechanical roughing pump was used to evacuate the chamber to  $10^{-4}$  torr, usually within two hours. Then the ion pump was turned on to reduce the chamber pressure to  $10^{-6}$  torr, usually within several hours. Then liquid nitrogen was fed to the cold shroud, reducing the pressure to  $10^{-7}$  torr within a few minutes. Thirty minutes after the admission of liquid nitrogen, the shutter was opened to allow the solar simulator to illuminate the test cells. The admission of the liquid nitrogen and the opening of the shutter are considered the beginnings of the dark and light portions, respectively, of the first cycle.

# 5.2 Suspension of Cycling

Whenever cycling had to be suspended because of weekends, lamp failures, or other causes, the shutter was first closed and then the liquid nitrogen was blown out of the shroud with forced air.

As the shroud warmed to room temperature, nolecules once trapped on the cold shroud were released, increasing the chamber pressure from  $10^{-8}$  to  $10^{-6}$  torr. Startup of cycling after a shutdown followed the procedure described in the preceding section.

Cycling was also suspended for short periods (e.g. five hours) when maintenance of the solar simulator was required, for example, replacement of a lamp. In these cases the shutter was closed, but liquid mitrogen was not blown from the shroud.

5.3 Measurement of Test-Cell Performance

Measurements of test-cell performance were started at the end of the illuminated portion of a cycle and took about thirty minutes to complete, thus requiring a 30-minute extension of the illuminated portion of that cycle. The performance test was not started until the end of the illuminated portion of the cycle to insure that the cells were near thermal equilibrium.

The first step in a performance test was to adjust the light intensity in the center of the beam to be equivalent to space sunlight having an intensity of 140 mw/cm<sup>2</sup>, AMO, as indicated by the outputs of the silicon reference cells on the test-cell supporting frame. Calibration of the silicon reference cells against the CdS standard cell had been accomplished during the preceding cycle. The load resistor on the first cell was then removed and the voltage and current leads of that cell were switched into the I-V curve measuring circuit in a open-circuited condition. Calibration of both axes of the XY plotter against the digital voltmeter at two points on the I-V curve then followed. The I-V curve of the first cell was then traced from open circuit to short circuit, and back again. Immediately upon completing the I-V trace, the operator recorded the output of the two reference cells and the test-cell temperature, and then replaced the load resistor.

This procedure was repeated for the remaining eight cells, except calibration of the XY recorder was not repeated. After completing all nine I-V traces, the operator recorded the load voltage of each cell to insure that its load resistor was replaced. He then recorded the temperatures of the silicon reference cells and the test-cell supporting frame. Upon completion of the performance test, the shutter was closed, the solar simulator was rotated, and the output of the CdS standard cell was recorded after being located in the center of the light beam.

# 5.4 Measurement of Control-Cell Performance

Measurements of control-cell performance, obtained during the dark portion of a cycle, took about forty minutes to complete, thus requiring that the dark portion of that cycle be extended by ten

minutes. The first step in this performance test was to adjust the intensity in the center of the beam to equal space sunlight intensity of 140 mw/cm<sup>2</sup>, as indicated directly by the CdS standard cell. The first control cell was then placed on the control-cell mounting block, whose temperature had previously been adjusted to  $25^{\circ}$ C. The block was then moved to the center of the beam and the I-V curve of the cell was traced from open circuit to short circuit, and back again. Immediately after the I-V curve was traced, the block temperature was recorded, the CdS standard cell was again placed in the center of the beam, and its output was recorded. This procedure was repeated for the remaining eight control cells.

#### 5.5 Determination of Intensity Loss in Quartz Window

The light intensity in the vacuum chamber could not be measured directly with the CdS standard cell during thermal cycling. Therefore, before the chamber was closed at the beginning of each test, the loss in intensity due to the light passing through the quartz window was determined. This was done by measuring the output of the CdS standard cell while located outside the vacuum chamber after the intensity had already been increased so that the equivalent space sunlight intensity at the test-plane inside the vacuum chamber was 140 mW/cm<sup>2</sup> as measured directly by the CdS standard cell placed in the chamber.

## 5.6 Adjustment of Light Intensity

Equivalent space sunlight intensity of the illumination at the control-cell block was easily obtained by directly monitoring the output of the CdS standard cell.

Adjustment of the intensity at the test plane in the vacuum chamber was more difficult, involving the silicon reference cells and absorption losses in the quartz window. At the end of the light cycle preceding the one in which the performance of the test-cells were to be measured, the outputs of both silicon-reference cells

were recorded, the solar simulator was rotated, and the output of the CdS standard cell at the center of the beam was measured. The recorded silicon reference cell readings were then adjusted to correspond to the proper CdS standard cell reading. This periodic calibration of the reference cells was necessary because some of the reference cells degraded over long periods of time.

# 5.7 Measurement of Light Uniformity

The uniformity of the light intensity of the solar simulator was measured whenever the lamp or optics were changed, and at the beginning and end of the test. The procedure used is described in section 4.2.5.

#### 5.8 Measurement of Light Spectrum

The spectrum of the solar simulator was measured whenever the lamp or optics were changed and at the beginning and end of the test. This was done by rotating the solar simulator away from the vacuum chamber and centering the beam on the entrance slit of the spectroradiometer described in section 4.2.4. The wavelength region between 25 and 2.5 microns was scanned and plotted automatically by the spectroradiometer. This plot represented the relative spectrum of the light beam. Before the plot was made, the equivalent space sunlight intensity at the entrance slit was adjusted to 140 mW per sq. cm as indicated by the CdS standard cell. The true intensity at the entrance slit was then measured with the radiometer.

The relative spectrum was determined by integrating the area under curve produced by the spectroradiometer in each of the six wavelength bands of interest. These areas were converted to intensities by normalizing the total area under the curve to the total intensity as measured by the radiometer. The resulting intensities represent the absolute spectrum of the solar simulator outside the test chamber.

The absolute spectrum at the test-cell plane inside the vacuum chamber was determined from the CdS standard cell setting used during test-cell performance measurements, the spectral transmission of the quartz window, and the absolute spectrum of the solar simulator outside the vacuum chamber. This absolute spectrum was calculated by modifying the outside spectrum by (1) multiplying all the values by the ratio of the CdS standard cell setting used during test-cell performance measurements to the setting used during control-cell performance measurements, and (2) reducing all the spectrum values by the corresponding absorptions in the quartz window.

# 5.9 Monitoring Test Environment Conditions

During thermal cyling, the chamber pressure, the light intensity, and the test-cell temperatures were periodically monitored between performance tests to insure that the cells were being exposed to the desired space environment. The chamber pressure and the light intensity were read and recorded by laboratory personnel two or three times during each laboratory shift. In addition, an alarm would sound if the vacuum were lost, if the illumination were lost, or if the shutter opened or closed improperly. The temperatures of the test-cells, the supporting frame, and the silicon reference cells were recorded every  $2\frac{1}{2}$  minutes during a complete thermal cycle at least once during each eight hour shift. A plot of CdS cell temperature for a typical cycle is shown in Figure 10.

33.



# Figure 10-TEST CELL TEMPERATURE CYCLE

# 6.0 DISCUSSION AND RESULTS

One objective of this contract was to determine experimentally how the power output of CdS solar cells is affected by prolonged exposure to a simulated space environment, including thermal cycling. Second objective was to determine what physical or chemical changes in the cells were responsible for any losses in power resulting from such an exposure. In this work the physical and chemical changes were postulated from an analysis of the illuminated current-voltage (I-V) curves obtained before, during, and after thermal cycling tests. This analysis is based on a mathematical model which relates the I-V curves to physically meaningful parameters in the cells.

This section begins with a description of the mathematical model, and the changes in cell performance it predicts when postulated physical and chemical changes occur in the cell. Then the results of each of the three thermal cycling tests conducted during Phase III are presented and discussed.

### 6.1 Changes in Cell Performance Predicted by a Mathematical Model

The I-V curve of a CdS solar cell can be represented by the equation (ref. 7):

$$I = I_{o} \left\{ \exp \left[ \frac{q}{AkT} \left( V - IR_{s} \right) \right] - I \right\} - I_{g} + \frac{V - IR_{s}}{R_{sh}}$$
(1)

where the symbols are defined as follows:

- Ι = current output of the cell
- Ig = light-generated current
- I o = reverse saturation current
- = electronic charge q
- A = empirical fitting constant equal to 1 for an ideal junction
- = Boltzmann constant k
- = absolute temperature, K Ť
- = the voltage appearing at the cell terminals V

 $R_{g}$  = series resistance  $R_{gh}$  = shunt resistance

The values of  $I_g$ ,  $R_g$ ,  $R_g$ ,  $R_g$ ,  $I_g$ , and A in a given cell may change as a result of physical and/or chemical changes in the cell. Assuming that the intensity and spectrum of the light at the front surface of the cell is constant,  $I_g$  may decrease because -

- (1) The transmission of the front cover and/or the laminating epoxy is reduced at wavelengths to which the cell responds.
- (2) The barrier layer is changed chemically or physically in such a manner that fewer of the photons reaching the barrier layer produce electron-hole pairs (e.g. its spectral response is changed).
- (3) The active area is reduced.

R<sub>c</sub>, the series resitance may increase because -

- (1) The conductive substrate is delaminated from the CdS layer
- (2) The grid is separated from the barrier layer or the conductive epoxy
- (3) The photoconductive layer increased in resistivity in the depletion region formed at the barrier layer-CdS interface. The cause can be less green light being transmitted by the front cover-laminating epoxy combination
- (4) The conductive epoxy changed chemically, increasing in resistivity
- (5) The CdS or barrier layers cracked, increasing the average distance traveled by an electron from the depletion region to the cell electrode.
- (6) The substrate metal layer changed, chemically increasing its resistivity.

More shorting paths between the barrier layer and the CdS layer will decrease  $R_{\rm sh}$ , the shunt resistance. Shorting paths may be caused by movements of the grid wearing holes in the barrier layer or by pinholes in the CdS layer (and hence the barrier layer) filling with conductive epoxy during attachment of the grid. Chemical reactions or diffusion processes in the barrier layer - CdS layer interface can change A and  $I_{\rm o}$ .

The effects of changes in  $I_g$ ,  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_o$  and A on the I-V curve of a cell are shown in Figures 11 to 15. These curves were obtained by repeatedly solving equation 1 for I at various values of V, using different values of the above parameters. The equation was solved by the Newton-Raphson technique with a digital computer (ref. 10), since the equation cannot be solved in closed form. The undegraded I-V curve in Figures 11 to 15 is identical to the pre-test I-V curve obtained for one of the CdS test cells at an intensity of 140 mW/cm<sup>2</sup> and a temperature of  $60^{\circ}C$ .

The effects of  $I_g$ ,  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_o$  and A on the maximum power  $(P_M)$ , short-circuit current  $(I_{sc})$ , open-circuit voltage  $(V_{oc})$  and fill factor  $(FF = P_M (V_{oc} \times I_{sc})$  were calculated using the I-V curves in Figures 11 to 15. The results are plotted in Figures 16 to 20.

It will be observed that  $R_g$  affects  $P_M$  and FF, (Figure 16), and also the slope of the I-V curve at  $V_{oc}$  (Figure 11). We define the negative value of this slope as  $R_{oc}$ , the equivalent series resistance:

$$R_{oc} = - \begin{bmatrix} \Delta V \\ \Delta I \end{bmatrix} I = 0$$

The effect of  $R_s$  on  $R_o$ , obtained from the I-V curves in Figure 11, is plotted in Figure 21.

Losses in  $P_M$  result from changes in any of the parameters in the CdS solar-cell equation. Significant degradation in  $P_M$  occurs only when the light generated current,  $I_g$ , or the shunt resistance,  $R_{gh}$ , changes. Losses in  $V_{oc}$  result from deterioration in any











FIGURE 13: Effect of Changes in Light Generated Current on the I-V Curve of a CdS Solar Cell





ų N









Relative Maximum Rover, (\$)  $\nabla$ Relative Open Circuit Voltage, (\$)  $\overline{\mathbb{V}}$ Relative Short Circuit Current, (\$) V Relative Fill Factor, (\$) 1/1/ Decrease in Light-Generated Current (%) These values were obtained from I-V curves generated by the equation  $I = I_{o} \left\{ \exp \left[ \frac{q}{AkT} (V-IR_{s}) \right] - I_{g} + \frac{V-IR_{s}}{R_{sh}} \text{ for various values of } I_{g} \right\}$ for various values of I<sub>g</sub>, light- $[R_s] -1 - I_g + \frac{1}{R_{sh}}$  for variou Other parameters were not changed. Initially, I = .805 generated current. amperes. PERFORMANCE CHARACTERISTICS OF A CdS SOLAR CELL vs CHANGING LIGHT GENERATED CURRENT FIGURE 18:







# FIGURE 21: EFFECT OF CHANGES OF SERIES RESISTANCE ON EQUIVALENT SERIES RESISTANCE

parameter except the series resistance,  $R_s$ , and are always accompanied by losses in FF, except when  $I_g$  is responsible for the degradation. A loss in FF due to a change in  $R_s$  occurs without measurable losses in  $V_{oc}$  or  $I_{sc}$ .

It is helpful to keep these observations in mind when studying the experimental results presented later in this report.

# 6.2 Reproducibility and Accuracy of Experimental Results

The results in this report consist primarily of values of  $P_M$ ,  $V_{oc}$ ,  $I_{sc}$ , and FF obtained at various stages of the tests. In order to evaluate the reproducibility of these results, 33 sets of data obtained from a stable CdS cell over a period of two months were analyzed. The average values, standard deviations and maximum deviations of  $P_M$ ,  $V_{oc}$ ,  $I_{sc}$ , and FF were calculated and are presented in Table 5.

Fluctuations in the data were the result of these random experimental errors: (1) variations in light intensity, (2) errors in the measured temperature, and (3) errors in the measured values of current and voltage. Since all cells were subject to the same experimental errors, the standard deviations shown in Table 5 represent the reproducibility of all performance data in this report. The maximum deviations shown are the largest deviations expected from experimental error and are useful in separating changes in performance caused by experimental error from those caused by changes in the cell.

The performance data obtained in the test involving April, 1967 cells were all too low because of a systematic error caused by a circuit fault. However, the precision and reproducibility of the results was not affected, and the measured relative changes in overall performance are still to be trusted. Performance data for the November, 1967 and March, 1968 cells contain no known systematic errors and are therefore believed to be accurate.

	AVERAGE	Standa	RD DEVIATION	MAXIMUM DEVIATION				
	$\bar{\boldsymbol{\chi}}$	$O_{\!\!\mathbf{s}}$	$\sigma/\overline{X}$ (percent)	$\sigma_{_{ m M}}$	$O_{M}/\overline{X}$ (percent)			
Maximum Power, P <sub>M</sub> , (mW)	157.4	2.6	1.7	4.4	2.8			
Open Circuit Voltage, V <sub>oc</sub> , (V)	0.4239	.0068	1.6	.0071	1.7			
Short Circuit Current, I <sub>sc</sub> , (mA)	548.1	7.6	1.4	16 <b>.1</b>	2.9			
Fill Factor, FF, (%)	67.73	.96	1.5	2.33	3.4			

 $P_{M}$ ,  $V_{oc}$  and FF corrected to  $60^{\circ}C$ 

Values in table are based on 33 sets of data from one CdS solar cell, (March, 1968 Test Cell No. N150BK6)

TABLE 5: PRECISION OF PERFORMANCE DATA

# 6.3 Experimental Results

The results of the three thermal cycling tests are discussed separately. For each test, the relative values  $P_M' = P_M/P_M(1)$ ,  $V_{oc}' = V_{oc}/V_{oc}(1)$ ,  $I_{sc}' = I_{sc}/I_{sc}(1)$ , and FF' = FF/FF(1) are presented where the 1 in parenthesis refers to initial values. Values obtained with the cells in the vacuum chamber, either under vacuum or at ambient pressure, are percentages of the values obtained with the cells outside of the vacuum chamber mounted on a temperature controlled block, are percentages of the values obtained under the same conditions before the test started. Values predicted by the mathematical model are in percentages of the values obtained from the initial undegraded I-V curve.

All measurements have been corrected for temperature variations. The measurements are also corrected for light intensity, when necessary. The effective intensity for all measurements is 140 mW/cm<sup>2</sup>, AMO. The equations used to make the corrections are shown in the Appendix (section 9.0).

The April, 1967 cells were cycled at a load voltage considerably higher than their maximum-power voltage (see Table 1). The November, 1967 cells and March, 1968 cells were operated at a load voltage slightly lower than the maximum power voltage. According to ref. 11 the higher load voltages result in unstable performance of CdS solar cells under illumination, even without thermal cycling. Therefore, the high load voltages used in testing the April, 1967 cells may have contributed to the poor observed performance.

# 6.3.1 April 1967 Cells

The test-cells manufactured in April, 1967 were subjected to 300 thermal cycles during which  $P_M$  degraded on the average, to 62 percent of initial, with individual values ranging between 53 and 82 percent.

A graph of the  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$  and FF' of each of the nine test cells as a function of cycles is presented in Figures 22 to 30. Each

graph also shows the  $P_M'$  of a matching control cell. All the testcell data presented in these graphs is tabulated in Table 6. All data have been corrected for temperature variations to correspond to the temperature recorded for each cell during the first cycle.

# Cell Number D537D

There is evidence which suggests that part of the loss in  $P_M$ was caused by a loss in the light-generated current  $(I_g)$ . The strongest evidence comes from the behavior of cell D537D, which after 300 cycles, had a  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' of 82, 102, 82 and 98 percent, respectively. Based on the calculated effects of  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_o$ , and A on the performance of a CdS solar cell, (Figures 16 to 20), the observed power loss in this cell was most likely caused by a 16 percent loss in  $I_g$ . Applying a 16 percent decrease in  $I_g$  to the mathematical model resulted in  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' values of 82, 98, 82, and 98, which are close to the experimental values. Changing  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_o$ , and A to create the 82 percent experimental value of  $P_M'$ resulted in an  $I_{sc}'$  of greater than 99 percent, a value far greater than the 82-percent experimental value.

Low light intensity could explain a low value of  $I_{sc}$ ', hence this possibility was examined carefully. The  $I_{sc}$  of the control cells at cycle 300 indicated that the intensity could not have been less than 96 percent of nominal at this time. Since the same solar simulator setting was used for both control cells and test cells, only a darkening of the quartz window could have reduced the illumination at the test cells. This was not so because measurements made before and after the test with a CdS standard cell indicated that the transmission of the quart window did not change by more than one percent. Also, the  $I_{sc}$  of one of the silicon reference cells in the chamber did not drop more than one percent below its cycle-l value at any time during the test.

CELL	CYCLES																		
NUMBER TEMPERATURE	1	10	20	30	41	50	60	70	79	90	100	130	161	190	223	257	287	300	
	(0 <sup>0</sup> )	RELATIVE MAXIMUM FOWER, $P_{\rm H}/P_{\rm M}(1)$ , (PERCENT)																	
D557A	56	145	80	80	58	56	60	63	63	59	58	56	52	53	61	69	59	60	60
D545A	60	148	91	84	73	65	59	65	63	61	60	61	58	57	63	65	65	59	61
D537E	63	98	67	66	64	58	73	55	52	48	48	53	46	48	51	51	47	49	53
D5360	57	209	98	-94	75_	69	61	65	62	58_	65	62	47	61	64	61	59	51	61
D5370	62	122	96	94	95_	92	_90_	86	86	87_	82	79_	78	75	82	83	78_	83	82
D536A	67	204	-94	91	72	67_	_59_	60	63	63_	56	61	49	56	61	60	51.	53	58
D5350	67	189	95	<u>96</u>	85	78	73	73	70	66	64	63	56	86	62	67	64	61	61
D534	<u> </u>	152	91	75	64	73	60	-74	70	64	59	65	60	60	67	61	63	62	60
	121		- 00		00	04	1_20	<u></u>	01	1.14	1 07	1 0/	02	1 01	01	01	1 21	150	101
(v) RELATIVE OPEN CIRCUIT VOLTAGE, V <sub>OC</sub> /V <sub>OC</sub> (1), (PERCENT)																			
D557A	56	0.400	98	98	93	94	92	94	95	95	94	93	91	96	96	96	97	98	98
D545A	60	p.399	98	_97	92	93	89	95	94	93	94	93	92	92	95	96	95	94	96
D5375	<u>03</u>	<b>p.33</b>	97	94	78	81	79	93	97	97	<u>92</u>	75	96	78	88	85	88	88	94
D527D	62	D.412	100	100	22	94	94	90	93	92	194	94	100	94	95	94	94	90	95
D536A	67	b.402	99	100	98	97	94	95	96	96	94	94	94	92	95	95	04	103	96
D535D	67	0.414	100	97	97	96	95	97	96	93	93	93	92	03	96	03	93	93	93
D534B	56	b.400	96	96	88	94	95	96	95	91	92	92	91	91	94	94	95	94	94
D533E	57	0.390	97	97	95	96	94	98	98	99	97	98	98	96	96	98	97	97	97
$\nabla$ RELATIVE SHORT CIRCUIT CURRENT, $I_{SC}/I_{SC}(1)$ , (PERCENT)																			
D557A	56	B30	95	94	93	88	89	88	88	87	85	85	83	79	83	83	81	81	81
D545A	60	B75	93	91	90	86	86	85	84	82	93	81	81	77	75	78	75	74	75
D537E	63	780	_ 89	80	79		78	78		75	73	74	72	70	69	72	70	68	70
D536C	57	860	<b>9</b> 6	94	91	88	86	87	87	85	85	83	80	80	81	80	79	79	78
D537D	62	720	- 96	94	_22_	91	- 90	89	88	<u>'38</u>	84	83	82	80	84	82	82	81	82
D536A	67	870	94	93	89	_ 86_	84	84	84	84	81	81	_79	79	80	78	_77	77	76
D535D	67	785	8	98	<u>96</u>	93	- 92	_91	91	20	_ 88_	86	85	83	_74	- 87	84	84	84
D534B	56	890	94	_93_	92	89	88		<u>90</u>	<u> </u>	86	85	84	83	85	82	71	82	81
D5338	57		92	90	88	86	85	86	86	85	83	83	81	80	84	79	77	77	75
		₩ ₩ (≸)				REL	ATIV	EFI	LL P	ACTO	)R, f	F/FI	F(1)	, (P	ERCE	NT)			
D557A	56	43.7	86	87	67	68	73	76	75	79	73	71	69	70	77	87	75	76	76
D545A	60	42.8	100	95	88	81	_77	80	80	80	69	81	78	80	88	87	91	85	85
D5378	63	38.1	78	88	104	93	118	_76	71	66	71	<b>9</b> 5	67	88	84	83	76	82	81
D536C	57	59.0	102	101	87	83	_75	78		74	81	<b>7</b> 9	68	81	88	81	<u>79</u>	72	82
D537D	67	41.8	- 99	100	100	100	100	95	96	-91	<u>98</u>	95	<u>95</u>	95	<u>99</u>	101	95	<del>99</del>	98
D5350	67	58 2	101	20	-03	<u></u>	-12	-15	-10	78	74	80	00	70	80	81	70	73	79
D534B	56	45.5	101	01	70	_01 87	70	84	82	<u>(7</u> 81	(0 75	9 82	<u>(</u> 2 70	. 70	07 81,	03	62	70	70
D533E	57	47.8	96	86	83	78	70	82	70	84	12 81	82	-17 82	70	76	19 70	75 76	75	<u>81</u>
x 11	fuele_1 date	200	ليتك •♦مو			<u></u>	 a∔∔u	<u></u>	<u>ا جنہ</u> میلاد		lvon	in i	the	17 11114	 o 1 m	171	tod	12	
All cycle-i data are actual (not relative) values given in the units indicated. The actual values are believed to be slightly low because of a fault in the measuring circuit. Since the same circuit was used throughout the test, the relative values presented in this table are believed to be accurate.																			

TABLE 6:ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR Cds SOLAR CELLS<br/>MANUFACTURED DURING APRIL, 1967

244

------

وبرد

jir ar



Figure 22 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



ê. 6

N

Figure 23 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



Figure 24

24 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



Figure 25 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



Figure 26 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



Figure 27 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



# Figure 28

ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



Figure 29 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967



Figure 30 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS. CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN APRIL, 1967

A loss in the I of cell D537D may have been caused by a loss in the transmission of its Pyre-ML-coated Mylar cover, especially since it has not been demonstrated conclusively that the Pyre-ML coating protects effectively the Mylar cover from UV radiation. The UV constant of the illumination during the 300 hours of exposure in this test corresponded to about 75 percent of the integrated solar intensity below  $0.35 \mu$ m. However, other possible causes of the loss in I should not be overlooked, since in thermal cycling tests discussed later in this report, where UV-resistant Kapton covers were used, the losses in I g cannot be readily explained.

### Other Cells

After 300 cycles, the average values of  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' for the remaining eight cells were 59, 95, 78, and 81 percent, respectively. The low average value of  $I_{sc}'$  suggests that a decrease in  $I_g$  occurred in these cells also. The fact that the FF' was lower than could be explained by a decrease in  $I_g$  (see Figure 13) suggests that an additional degrading mechanism was present. Loss in FF' can result from changes in  $R_s$  and  $R_{sh}$ , but only  $R_{sh}$  can explain the low values of  $V_{oc}'$  observed in some of the cells. We therefore attribute the power losses in these cells to decreases in both  $R_{sh}$  and  $I_g$ . Power losses resulting from decreases in  $R_{sh}$  probably were caused by internal short circuits in the cell.

In many of the cells, the I-V curve traced in one direction differed from that traced in the other direction (Figures 31a and 31b). This behavior is called hysteresis. Occasionally a cell would exhibit an erratic I-V curve (Figure 31c) which could not be repeated in successive traces. The fact that the hysteresis affected  $V_{\rm oc}$  ' but not  $I_{\rm sc}$ ' suggests that the effective shunt resistance varied. Short circuits within a cell are one possible cause of change in effective shunt resistance. The type of hysteresis shown in Figure 31a is roughly what would be expected if a partial short circuit existed in the cell during the


FIGURE 31. DEGRADED I-V CURVES OF APRIL, 1967 CdS SULAR CELLS

trace. from I to V ...

The type of hysteresis shown in Figure 31b is more difficult to interpret. One possibility is that the partial short circuit existing in the cell during the trace from  $V_{OC}$  to  $I_{SC}$  became even worse when the return trace was started, producing a straight line characteristic. To explain why the return trace ended at a  $V_{OC}$  higher than the  $V_{OC}$ at the beginning of the first trace, it must be assumed that the short circuit gradually weakened during the latter part of the return trace, completely disappearing by the time the trace was finished. The type of behavior exhibited in Figure 31c can be explained in a similar manner except that perhaps several partial short circuits were involved, one of which did not appear until the latter part of the return trace. The fact that precisely the same curve could not be obtained in successive traces suggests that the shorts appeared intermittently.

### Summary of Testing of April, 1967 Cells

The April, 1967 cells degraded quite drastically within 300 cycles. The probable cause of power degradation was a decrease in shunt resistance resulting from internal shorts. A loss in lightgenerated current, possibly from a degradation of the Pyre-ML-coated Mylar covers, also contributed significantly to the power loss.

### 6.3.2 November, 1967 Cells

The test-cells manufactured in November, 1967 were subjected to 506 light-dark cycles. The  $P_M$  of the two copper-substrate cells had degraded to 77 and 25 percent of initial, respectively, after 506 cycles. During the same time, the  $P_M$ ' of the seven Kapton-substrate cells had dropped, on the average, to 82 percent, the individual values ranging between 75 and 88 percent.

The  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' of each of the nine test cells are plotted as a function of cycles in Figures 32 to 40. Each graph also shows the  $P_M'$  of a matching control cell. All the test-cell data are also

presented in Table 7. These data have been corrected for temperature variations to correspond to  $60^{\circ}$ C. All test-cell data were obtained with the test-cells mounted in the vacuum chamber, under vacuum, after the cells had been illuminated for about one hour.

Performance data were also obtained for these cells in  $\operatorname{air}_{p}$  before and after cycling, with the cells mounted on a temperature controlled block maintained at 60°C. These data are presented in Table 8.

6.3.2.1 Kapton Substrate Cells

### Cell Number NH200AK3

The most stable cell in the group was number NH200AK3. After 506 cycles, its  $P'_{M}$ ,  $V'_{oc}$ ,  $I'_{sc}$ , and FF', were 88, 100, 100, and 88 percent, respectively. Based on the calculated effects of  $R'_{s}$ ,  $R'_{sh}$ ,  $I'_{g}$ ,  $I'_{o}$ , and A on the performance of a typical cell (Figures 16 to 20), the observed power loss was most likely the result of a 0.054-ohm increase in  $R'_{s}$ . These are the reasons:

- (1) a 0.054-ohm increase in R resulted in calculated P' M' V ; I ; and FF'values of 88, 100, 100, and 88 percent which were the same as the experimental values.
- (2) Values,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_o$ , or A from which the experimental 88 percent  $P_M'$  could be calculated, resulted in a  $V_{oc}'$  or an  $I_{sc}'$  significantly less than the experimental values.
- (3) Furthermore, the R obtained from the I-V curves at cycle-1 and cycle 506 was 0.05-ohms and 0.012 ohms respectively.
   According to Figure 21 this corresponds to a 0.045-ohm increase in R<sub>s</sub>, in good agreement with the preceding observations.

Measurements made on this cell in air, before and after cycling, (Table 8), resulted in P', V ', I ', and FF' values of 94, 101, 100 and 92 percent, indicating that both  $P'_M$  and FF' recovered during the period between cycle 506 and removal of the cells from the chamber. Recovery was probably accompanied by a decrease in series resistance.

# Table 7: ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLING FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER 1967

CELL											C	YCLE	S													
NUMBER	$\overline{1}$	15	23	32	38	48	62	75	89	99	129	142	157	200	208	221	222	251	286	287	352	1397	443	14	605	506
income de la casa de la companya de	A	AU. 42-9470	And the second second		<b>t</b>	100 P (00)		kusis≣e: Ftt∆i	CUN	VERS		FFFI	CIEN	CV 4	1755. n (	PEDU	ENT)		1.2.7		Loor.	1031	<u>1117</u>		505	500
Ø 157.067) BLEV KORGERAN, OF MANAGEMENT		1. 10	1. 07	In or	<b>T</b>	Γ								<u>,</u> ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	$\frac{6}{1}$			1	n Senara		T 1	l	t	(	7.,07.00	-was together
<u>A970B</u>	4.28	2.76	2.83	2.01	3.90	2.64	2.91	3.23	3.00	3.00	3.51	3.69	2.73	2.44	3.25	13.56	3.51	3.46	3.52	3.41	3.83	3.30	3.39	3.39	3.26	3.29
NH188AK2	2.59	2.46	2.41	2.37	2.31	2.35	2.20	2.21	1.99	2.17	2.1	2.16	2.13	2.13	2.11	2.15	2,13	12.00	2.07	2.08	2.07	12.07	2.02	2.05	1.9	1.94
NH200AK3	2.73	2,52	2.44	2.42	2.38	2.41	2.38	¥.41	2.39	2.35	2.31	2.33	2.35	2.42	2.38	2.33	2.37	2.3)	2,42	2.38	2.41	2.42	2.42	2.43	2.37	2.41
NB9CK7	2.28	1.85	1.39	2.08	2.09	1.99	1.86	1.98	2.05	2.00	1.80	1.95	1.95	1.86	1.87	1.86	1.94	1.90	1.90	1.87	1.87	1.85	1.87	1.74	1.79	1.78
NSOBK4	3.04	3.15	2.8	3.00	3.00	3.02	2.76	2.90	2.93	2.67	2.81	2.83	2.90	2.80	2.83	2.76	2.80	2.77	2.72	2.78	2.74	2.70	2.70	2.73	2.67	2.69
N90AK1	3.21	3.00	2.99	2.91	2.91	2.93	2.93	2.93	2.93	2.87	2.83	2.85	2.94	2.86	2.82	2.81	2.82	2.78	2.91	2.85	2.80	2.77	2.77	2.80	2.80	2.73
N9OAK9	2.91	2.77	2.73	2.70	2.68	2.67	2,61	2.65	2.69	2.61	.2.57	2.60	2.64	2.57	2.59	2.57	2.64	2.55	2.56	2.57	2.55	2.50	2.46	2.48	2.4	2.47
	A						REI	ATIN	IE NU	AXIM	M P	INFR	P.,	/P.,	(1)	(PF	RCFN	<b>T</b> )								
A970B	(EW)	05	05	07	03	80	00	RA	86	A6	Ao	86	85	AL.	82	LA2	82	81	82	70	70	77	70	70	76	77
A969D	329	64	66	68	69	63	.68	77	70	71	69	70	64	57_	52	21	20	20	20	21	22	25	25	25	25	25
NH188AK?	199 .	95	94	91	89	91	88	85	77	84	83	83	82	82	81	83	82	.77	80	80	80	80	78	79	77	75
NH200AK3	210	92	90	89	87_	88	87	88	88	86	85	85	86	89	87	85	87	88	89	87	88	89	89	89	87	88
N89CK7	175_	81	90	91	92	87	82	87	90	88	82	86	86	82	83	83	85 NC	83 86	83	83	83	81	83	27	79	78
N909K4	234	94	90	90	91	91	89	91	90	90	88	89	86	91	87	86	82	84	83	87	86	85	84	85	86	82
NGOAKL	247	94	93	91	91	91	91	91	91	89	88	89	91	89	88	87	88	87	91	89	87	86	85	87	87	85
N90AK9	224	95	94	.93	92	92	90	91	92	90	88	-89_	91	88	89	88	91	87	88	88	87	86	84	85	83	85
	$\mathbb{X}$					REL	ATIV	E OP	EN C	CIRCL	JIT V	OLT	AGE,	VOC	/v <sub>oc</sub>	(1)	, (P	ERCE	NT)							
EQ. 7A	. 443	102	102	103	103	102	102	102	102	102	101	102	101	102	101	101	101	105	104	101	102	102	103	103	103	102
A969D	.453	96	96	97	<u>98</u>	94	97	98	<u>98</u>	_97	97	.97	95	95	92	39	39	38	41	41	47	58	62	56	59	60
NHISBAK2	-426 Jore	00	100	100	100	101	001	100	90	- 22	8	99_	100	101	100	100	101	<u>99</u>	100	101	102	102	102	100	102	101
N39CK7	.424	.97.	98	_99	_92	.97_	.97	97	99	93	. 97	47	95	96	~		41	-97	59	97	97.	97	.99	97	98	97
N90AK5	,416	101	102	101	101	100	100	100	100	100	100	99	50	101	101	101	101	101	102	101	104	103	103	103	103	103
N9OBK4	.419	<u>99</u>	.99	<u>98</u>	<u>98</u>	<u>98</u>	<u>99</u>	<u>98</u>	98	<u>98</u>	98	<u>97</u>	98	98	98	<u>90</u>	98 200	<u>98</u> 101	<u>99</u> 103	98	99	<u>99</u>	<u>99</u>	100	<u>99</u>	<u>9</u> 3
NGOAK1	.421	100	101	101	100	101	101	101	100	100	101	100	100	102	101	101	102	101	102	101	103	102	102	101	102	101
	$\overline{\mathbb{W}}$		1 BUTTER			RELA	TIVE	SHO	RT C	IRCU	IT C	URRE	ENT,	Isc/	T <sub>SC</sub>	(1)	, (P	RCE	VT)					A DEPARTMENT		
	(mA)		<b></b>			0-		0-	06	0-	01	Ör	0-	00	00	96	a).	82	83	<u>م</u> ا			80	82	81	83
A970B	1095	93	93	91	90 93	<u>89</u> 92	91	<u>90</u>	89	<u>90</u>	87	87 89	89	86	86	83	83	81	81	82	82	81	83	82	81	81
NH188AK2	760	100	100	.98	.97	96	.97	96	95	.93	94	.93	.93	91	93	94	94	92	91	92	92	<u>91</u>	91	. 91	90	90
NH200AK3	. 750	101	_99_	_ 99	99	98	99	_99_	_99	_ 29	- 98	98	100	98	_93	97	<u>99</u>	99	99	. 99	100	100	101	101	100	100
N39CK7	760	100	_99	_ 97	.97	97	96	_96_	_97_	_ 97	_ 94	.94_	.95	. 92	92	92	94	92	_ <u>92</u> _	_92_	92	<u>91</u>	92	92	91	91
N90AK5	945 1 859	98 03	97	96	96_	_97	95_	94	95	95 04	. 93	93	92 0ń	90	92	91 80	92 01	<u>90</u> 90	-09 	03 AT	- <u>7</u>	90 91	92	91 91	91	93
N90AK1	900	96	_95	94	94	94	94	94	95	94	92	93	93	90	93	92	93	92	93	93	92	91	92	93	94	91
N90AK9	. 817	97	_97	95	94	94	93	94	94	94	92	93_	94	92	93	92	93	<u>91</u>	91	92	92	91	91	92	90	92
	X							RELA	TIVE	FIL	L FÁ	CTOR	l, FF	/FF (	1),	(PER	CENT	)								
А970В	68.0	100	100	100	100	.99	100	100	98	97	93	98	96	97	96	97	96	94	97	94	94	93	94	93	93	93
A969D	67.5	69	71	75	76	72	.76	85	80	-06	81	81	75	69	65	63	63	63	60	60	56	53	49	53	_51	51
NH188AK2	61.5	_95	95	93	93	25	92	90	84	92	89	92	89	90	89	89	87	85	. 87	87	85	87	85	84	-84	<u>84</u> 84
NH200AK3	67.5	93	91	91	89	1 21	<u>90</u>	91	<u>90</u>	88	88	90 04	00	91	90 01	00 01	00 07	90 07	90	91	91	90 91	91	85	89	89
NOOAKS	61.8	07	93	94	95	94	94	94	94	92	92	94	97	94	94	91	92	92	92	92	89	89	88	89	89	89
N90BK4	66.7	96	97	96	96	96	96	96	94	93	96	94	97	94	96	94	94	94	94	94	93	93	93	94	91	91
N90AK1	65.2	97	97	97	97	.97	97.	97	95	95	95	95	98	97	94	94	94	94	95	94	92	92	92	92	91	92
N90AK9	65.3	98	_97	_97.	.97	. 25	95	_97_	. 97	95	97	97	97	95	95	95	97	95	95	95	94	92	ΑT	92	42	72
Al	1 Cy	cle-	-1 da	ata a	ire a	actua	a] (	not	rela	tive	) va	lues	giv	en i	n in	dica	ted	unit	s.							
Test Env	iron	ment Conc	:: :  i+i/	space	Env	/iroj lacu	nmen Im	t Th	erma	I Cy	clin	9														
Cell Tem	pera	ture		<b>J</b> 000	, (		414																			
Liaht In	tens	itv:		140my	(/ Cm'	- Al	MO				1															



Figure 32 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967



Figure 33 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967



Figure 34 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967



Figure 35 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967





Figure 37 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967



Figure 38 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967



Figure 39 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967



SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN NOVEMBER, 1967

MANUFACTURE	CELL	CELL .	33	FICIENCY		MAXIM	M POLER	р г	OPEN CI	RCUIT VO	LIVGE	SHORT C	IRGUIT (	URRENT	FIL	FACTOR	
DATE	TYPE	NUMBER	2(1)2	3	11/2/2	(12)	, M	[T] H./N	(T) JO		100/30		- <b>1</b>	-ac/-ec(3	<b><i>m</i>(1)</b>	-	11/11
			BEFORE	AFTER	BELATIVE	BEFORE	ATTER	RELATIVE	BEFORE	ATTER	MANAN	BEFORE	ATTER	RELATIVE	BEFORE	NTT2	RELATIVE
			9	( <b>F</b> )	3	(in)	(Ha)	3	(3)	(X)	3	( <b>v</b> =)	( <b>m</b> )	(3)	3	3	3
	c	8070B	4.56	4.06	89	351	312	କ୍ଷ	0.439	0.454	103	1158	1062	35	\$	65	ま
	7	<b>A</b> 969D	4.55	0.85	61	350	65	19	0.442	0.255	82	1158	1030	đ	88	23	Ť
		IEL 88AK2	2.74	2.33	85	รา	179	85	0.428	0.437	SCI	793	776	8	જ	53	35
NOVEMBER,		<b>NEZOOAK</b> 3	2.81	2.64	54	216	203	л тб	0.417	0.422	TOT	200	7,92	200	86	61	x
1967		MBGCET	2.68	2.13	8	206	164	8	0.427	0.434	102	962	755	95	61	ጽ	82
	m	R90AK5	3.26	2.94	8	251	226	8	0.416	0.426	102	off	914	ы	75	ጽ	91
•		B90BK4	3.04	2.93	8	234	225	8	0.413	0.41B	IQ	860	867	101	8	ઝ	ま
		LXNOQN	3.07	2.89	76	236	525	đ	0.419	0.425	101	8 <del>6</del>	<b>9</b> 99	8	63	59	ま
		NGOAKG	2.89	2.63	ъ	555	202	Б	0.418	0.423	IOL	817	<b>8</b> 9	8	65	ઙ	ĸ
		N154BKG	3.04	2.74	8	234	ផ្ត	8	0.412	0.437	106	850	CTB	55	67	8	8
	+	AL 53AKB	2.96	2.47	83	228	81	33	0.415	0.425	102	86	13	8	ন্ত	8	91
		NISHCKI	2.77	2.64	95	213	53	95	0.418	0.432	103	755	<b>F</b> 23	*	67	65	91
MARCH,		ND.577BK2	3.17	2.78	88	244	214	88	0.409	0.418	102	893	942	ą	67	61	61
2005		Alsoakh	2.87	2.55	8	ឆ្ល	<b>96</b> 1	68	0.420	0.440	105	804	739	б	8	8	91
	S	#156CE2	2.70	2.48	32	209	161	8	0.422	0.435	103	750	002	93	99	63 	95
		<b>BIJ56AK5</b>	3.07	2.57	8r	236	198	84	0.4JB	0.127	102	<del>8</del> 86	805	ß	75	<b>5</b> 8	61
	Ľ	M151CK4	2.67	1.96	- <b>4</b> 2	205	151	74	0.413	0.41B	tot	760	693	31	65	52	80 Q
	>	III.50BK6	2.16	2.11	8	166	362	8	0.422	0.437	101	568	Ed.2	ж	69	89	8
Measurement Light Inten Cell Tempera	Condi sity: ature:	tion: In ai 140 m 60 <sup>0</sup> C	r, with W/cm <sup>2</sup> , /	cell mou	inted on	a tempel	rature-ci	ontrolle	d block								

 TABLE 8:
 ELECTRICAL
 PERFORMANCE
 OF
 CdS
 SOLAR
 CELLS

 BEFORE
 AND
 AFTER
 THERMAL
 CYCLING

One of the cells in this group exhibited a delamination between the CdS layer and the metal coating on the substrate. Such a delamination may have increased the series resistance during thermal cycling, causing subsequent loss of power. When the cell was mounted on the temperature-controlled block after removal from the vacuum chamber, it was constrained to lie flat while its I-V curve was being obtained. This constraint may have temporarily closed delaminations, resulting in decreased series resistance and apparent recovery in maximum power.

### Cell Number NH188AK2

Cell number NH188AK2 is typical of the remaining six cells in this group. After 506 cycles its  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' values were 75, 101, 90 and 84 percent, respectively. A degraded I-V curve of this cell is shown in Figure 41.

### Decrease in Light Generated Current

Based on the calculated effects of  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_o$ , and A on the performance of a typical CdS solar cell (Figures 16 to 20), the observed loss in  $I_{sc}$ ' was most likely the result of about a 10 percent decrease in  $I_o$ . These are the reasons:

- (1) A 10 percent decrease in I resulted in an I ' of 90 percent, which is the same as the experimental value, without causing a degraded  $V_{oc}$ '.
- (2) Changes in R<sub>s</sub>, R<sub>sh</sub>, I<sub>o</sub>, and A which resulted in a P<sub>M</sub> less than the 75-percent experimental value resulted in an I<sub>sc</sub>' greater than 98 percent, and therefore could not explain the observed 90-percent I<sub>sc</sub>'.

Much evidence shows that this loss was not the result of low light intensity:

- (1) The I ' of one cell (No. NH2OOAK3) did not degrade at all during the entire test.
- (2) The I of one of the silicon reference cells in the vacuum chamber varied by less than one percent between cycle 1 and cycle 506.



Figure 41: DEGRADED I-V CURVE OF A NOVEMBER 1967 CdS SOLAR CELL

- (3) The transmission of the quartz window degraded less than one percent, based on measurements made with the CdS standard cell before and after the test.
- (4) The I of all the Kapton-substrate control cells at cycle 506 were within one percent of their cycle-1 values.

Since all these cells had the same type of covers (Kapton), and the  $I_{sc}$  of one of these cells did not degrade at all, it appears that the loss in light-generated current cannot be attributed to a decrease in cover transmission. Furthermore, other investigations (ref. 8) have shown that Kapton does not degrade under UV in vacuum. Thus we are unable to explain why the light generated current of this one cell decreased. Data obtained in air on a temperature controlled block before and after the test (Table 8, NH188AK2) indicate only a two percent degradation in  $I_{sc}$ .

This perplexing question of why I degraded during thermal cycling, and then recovered after the test has not yet been resolved. With only one exception, the other cells also exhibited a decrease in lightgenerated current during thermal cycling, and then recovered, at least partially, after the test was completed. Post-cycling tests (Table 9) conducted before the cells were removed from the chamber indicated that the addition of gaseous mitrogen or air seemed to have no significant effect on  $I_{sc}$  (and hence  $I_{g}$ ). The  $I_{sc}$  of the cells did increase slightly in the first post cycling test, but this increase probably resulted from the below-normal temperature (50°C instead of 70°C) of the cells in this test, rather than from a recovery in light generated current.

### Increase in Series Resistance

Based on the calculated effects of  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_o$  and A on the performance of a typical CdS solar cell (Figures 16 to 20), the observed decrease in FF of cell NH188AK2 was most likely caused by a change in  $R_s$  rather than a change in the other parameters. The reasons are:

Table 9: POST-CYCLING PERFORMANCE OF CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED DURING NOVEMBER 1967

			HOURS	POSI- CYCLING		HOURS		G HOURS		HOURS		- 0.35		2 HOLTS	SIXTH POST- CYCLING
X	CLING	IFIT I		IX.		_		POST	CYCLING						ITEST
		EN	LINCOMEN	ITAL COND	F CAS IN	IRING AND E	SETLEN PE	RFORMANCE	TESTS						
	ACUUM V	ACUUN 1	ACUUM	VACUUN	VACUUN	NI TROGE	N NI TROGE	N NITROGE	N NI TROG	EN VACUUN	NET	AIR	AIR	AIR	AIR
1	L N		H	RESS	URE IN VI	ACUUH CHAN	BER (torr)								
A H	1,01	- 2		AVED		TEMPERATIC	ANBIENI	AMBIENI	ANBIEN	1 10 4		NBIEN	NBIENI	L AMBIEN	I MUBIENT
	RNAT1NG -100 65	3	65	98	ARISING FROM -11 TO +25		F=	APPROX. 25	"	APPROX. 25	8	N N N	μ.	APPROX 25	8
G	N UN														
	NR DFF	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	8
1	<b>PER</b>	ORMANCE	DATA N	EASURED U	NDER THE	<b>ENV (RONE</b>	NTAL CONDI	IDNI SNOIL	ICATED ABU	VE 🔍					
			RELATIV	E MAXIMUN	POLER,	P <sub>W</sub> /P <sub>W</sub> (1),	52	,							
		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		828			82 <b>3</b>	anangan siya kana	# <b>₹</b> \$7		87. <b>3</b> .3		8224		**************************************
	.1	1983 1983		<b>38</b> 83			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	T	66	ŀ	3828		3838		8-8
	- <b>I</b>	<b>\$</b> \$		5			9 <b>- 3</b> 7		3-6		ន្លន	<u> </u>	38 <u>5</u>		6×2
			RELV	TIVE OPEN	I CIRCUIT	VOLTAGE,	Vu/Vu (1),	82							
5		33 <b>3</b>		<u>252</u>			282		88 <u>68</u>		28 <b>3</b> 2		8823		<u>-885</u>
	L	883	<b></b>	255		e Nichamograf, Josew J <mark>ue</mark> nd	288	I	585	<b>.</b>	∎æ	-friend to conside	888	T	385
	<b>J</b>	68	•	88				1	6	<b>T</b>	88	1	3 6	-1	325
			ଞ	ATIVE SH	RT CIRCU	IT CURRENT	, Isc/Isc	(1), Z							
		5 <b>583</b>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	88.99			8 <b>88</b>		****		****		6683		8955
	<b></b>	223		883		la ĝorojum de conservaj și la	3 <b>3</b> 3	ner, Alamanda — alir oʻdok	383	ŕ	392	1	<b>8</b> 80	T	888
	<b>I</b>	<b>-8</b>		88	<b></b>		65	T	65	T		1	35		a E
			8	LATIVE FI	ILL FACTO	R, FF/FF(1	), 4								
		<b>ප</b> ෂසුඝ		66668			8898		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		######################################		88220		8822
		8 <b>5</b> 5	<u> </u>	5 <b>8</b> 5		- <del> </del>	388	- 1524 - <del>61 11/1 11/1 11/1 11/1</del>	<b>896</b>		<b>3</b> 33	r	800	al an	<b>6</b> 83
		ঞ্চ	•	:58			<b>2</b> 8	I	<b>3</b> 38	<b></b>	96 96	1	<b>3</b> 8	T	<u>_</u>

- (1) A 0.076-ohm increase in R<sub>s</sub> resulted in a FF'equal to the 84-percent experimental value, without degrading V<sub>oc</sub>!
- (2) Changes in I do not appreciably affect FF'.
- (3) Changes in  $R_{sh'}$ , I and A which result in the experimental **FF** also result in a V ' which is significantly lower than the experimental value.

Furthermore, the I-V curves at cycle-1 and cycle-506 showed that  $R_{cc}$  increased from 0.10 to 0.16 ohms. Figure 21 shows that this corresponds to a 0.046-ohm increase in  $R_s$ , in fair agreement with the preceding observations.

### 6.3.2.2 Copper-Substrate Cells

### Cell Number A970B

After 50t cycles, the  $P'_M$ ,  $V'_C$ ,  $I'_Sc'$ , and FF'values of this cell were 77, 102, 81, and 93 percent respectively. The before and after measurements made in air resulted in  $P'_M$ ,  $V'_{oc}$ ,  $I'_{sc'}$ , and FF values of 59, 103, 92, and 94 percent respectively, indicating a significant recovery in  $P'_M$  and  $I'_{sc'}$ , but not in  $V'_{oc}$  and FF' during the post-test feriod. The fact that the  $I'_{sc}$  did not recover completely, as did the  $I'_{sc}$  of all the cells with Kapton covers, suggests that a permanent degradation in the transmission of the Mylar cover was responsible for part of the in situ degradation of  $I'_{sc}$ .

Based on the calculated effect of  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_o$ , and A on the performance of a typical CdS solar cell (Figures 16 to 20), the observed loss in FF was due to either an increase in series resitance or a decrease in shunt resistance. These are the reasons:

(1) A 0.024-ohm increase in  $R_s$  resulted in a FF' equal to the experimental value without being accompanied by a significant decrease in V '.

- (2) A 15-ohm decrease in  $R_{sh}$  resulted in a FF' equal to the experimental value without being accompanied by a significant decrease in  $V_{oc}$ '.
- (3) Changes in I or A which result in a FF'equal to the experimental value are accompanied by large losses in  $V_{oc}$ , which were not observed experimentally.

The values of R obtained from the I-V curves at cycle-1 and cyle-506 did not differ significantly, indicating no change in resistance. This suggests that an increase in shunt resistance was responsible for the degradation in FF, and hence part of the power loss.

### Cell Number A969D

After 506 cycles, the  $P'_M$ ,  $V_{oc}$ ,  $I_{sc}$ , and FF values of this cell were 25, 60, 81 and 51 percent, respectively. The drastic degradations in this cell appear to be caused by a decrease in  $R_{sh}$  resulting from a short in the cell. However a decrease in  $I_g$  may have been responsible for the decrease in  $I_{sc}$ . Just as in cell A970B, discussed in the preceding paragraph, the  $I_{sc}$  recovered partially after the test was completed. The permanent decrease in  $I_{sc}$  was probably due to a decrease in the transmission of the Mylar cover.

## Summary or Testing of November, 1967 Cells

In general, the cells manufactured in November, 1967 did not lose as much power as did the April, 1967 cells. Lower losses in the Kaptonsubstrate cells resulted from losses in light generated current and from increases in series resistance. Something other than a decrease in transmission of the Kapton covers is responsible for the observed decrease in  $I_{\sigma}$ .

The loss in light-generated current seemed to recover completely after the cells were removed from the vacuum chamber. No explanation is available for this phenomenon. A few Kapton-substrate cells also exhibited occasional drops in shunt resistance resulting from shorts in the cell. The copper-substrate cells degraded in power output because of losses in I and decreases in  $R_{sh}$ , but not  $R_{s}$ . Part of the loss in I was due to a degradation of the Mylar covers. This part of the loss did not vanish after the test. The fact that the  $R_{s}$  increased in the Kapton-substrate cells but not the copper-substrate cells suggests that the cause of increasing  $R_{s}$  in the Kapton-substrate cells is from either:

- (1) A delamination between the CdS layer and the substrate metal layer which doesn't occur in the copper-substrate cells
- (2) An increase in resistivity in the substrate metal layer.

### 6.3.3 March, 1968 Cells

The test cells manufactured in March, 1968 were subjected to 2031 cycles. The average  $P'_M$  of eight of the nine test cells had degraded, by cycle 2031, to 88 percent. The actual values ranged from 33 to 96 percent. The ninth degraded in  $P'_M$  to 49 percent in 2031 cycles. The  $P'_M$ ,  $V_{oc}$ ,  $I_{sc}$ , and FF of each of the nine test cells is plotted as a function of cycles in Figures 42 to 50. The  $P'_M$  of a matching control cell is also plotted on these graphs. These test data are also presented in Tables 10 to 14. The data have been corrected for temperature variations to correspond to 60°C. All of these data were obtained with the test-cells mounted in the vacuum chamber, under vacuum.

After completion of cycling, cell performance was measured at ambient pressure, first with gaseous nitrogen, and then with air in the chamber. The results of these tests are given in Table 15.

The performance of the cells was also measured in air before and after cycling, with the cells mounted, on a temperature-controlled block maintained at  $60^{\circ}$ C. These data are presented in Table 8.

arte																				
041 Be.	ч	N	\$	Я Ц	ន	肃	4	2	28	જ	£	R	Ц	8	8	95	907 907	સ	143	ST
RESIGNA	2.47	2.2	2.48	5.5	2.2	2.48	2.44	2.46	2.47	2.43	2.46	2.39	2.48	2.47	2.4	2.47	2.11	2.34	2.47	2.50
x150MG	2.03	2.02	2.07	2.09	2.05	2.05	2°8	1.94	2,52	2.07	2.07	2.08	2.08	2°07	2.05	2.01	8.8	<b>2.</b> 03	2.07	70.5
<b>ND56AK</b>	2.68	2.67	2.68	2.67	2.68	2.64	2.64	2.67	2.63	2.67	2.65	2°.2	2.63	2.65	2.67	2.65	2.64	2.60	2.64	2.6
<b>X1.56CK2</b>	2.57	2.56	2.39	2.60	2.57	2.57	2.57	2.56	2.52	2.56	2+57	2.59	2.59	2.57	2.59	2.60	2.63	2.50	2.57	2.55
<b>NISSAUS</b>	2.93	-295	2.91	2.9k	2.91	2.57	2.90	2.93	2.89	2.87	2.86	2.85	2.87	2.89	2.81	2.90	2.80	2.2	2.5	2 20
ILI SAUKS	2,96	2.91	3.02	3.00	2.93	2.89	2.93	2.98	2.94	8.8	2.96	2.8	2.87	2.90	2.83	2.91	2.89	2.81	2.87	2.95
IL 53MB	2.82	2.87	2.8 2	2.80	2.85	2.85	2.94	2.82	2.85	2.85	2.83	5.8	2.87	2.82	2.05	2.83	2.80	2.7	2.77	2.80
Instern	5.7	2.77	2.73	2.80	2.74	2.78	2.7	2.77	2.77	2°.8	2.73	2.76	2.83	2.78	2.77	2.81	2.80	2.73	2.81	2.78
ETS78C2	3.02	3.06	3.62	3-03	3.02	3.06	‡0⁼E	3.06	3-03	3.8	3.03	3.03	3.07	3.04	a.e	2.99	3.01	2.98	3.03	3.06
ent.		193	208 808	602	112	245	8	R	e M	53 1 1 1 1	191	8	8	533	534	553	554	620	652	128
																				Π
nsicet		2.39	2.42	2.41	2.42	2.34	2.39	2.37	2.36	2 .57	2.37	12.3.	02.30	2.20	2.30	2,30	2.20	2.3	2.25	2.30
20.502466		2.04	2.0k	2.02	2.02	2.00	2.08	2.07	2.08	2.07	2-03	EC 13-	·2.00	2.08	1.99	2.00	1.96	2.00	1.99	1.99
ID 56MEH		2,56	35.0	2.54	2.57	2,48	2,50	2.51	2.47	2°.50	2.51	-2.50	·2•50	2.11	2,46	2.46	2.34	2.47	2.16	2.4
1156002		2.47	2.44	2.51	2.16	2.43	2.43	2.41	2.48	2.30	2.37	45.5	2.43	2.25	2.41	2.3	2.13	5.13	243	2.37
<b>ELSGARS</b>		2.55	2.76	2,80	2.77	2.69	<i>۳.</i> ۶	2.68	2.73	2.68	2.70	2.64	2.61	2.61	2.69	2.67	2.72	2.63	2.68	2.55
IL SANKG		2.85	2.89	2.85	2.67	LI.*2	2.31	2.80	2.78	2.72	2.76	2.74	2.70	2.68	2.76	2.74	2.78	2.70	2.68	2.70
EL53AEB		2.13	2.69	2.74	2.70	2.64	2.64	1.31	7.46	2.20	2.31	2.30	2.29	2.29	2.26	2.30	2.39	2.33	2.30	2.33
III SHOEL		2.74	2.72	2.74	2.69	2.67	2.63	2.65	2+69	2.64	2.61	2.63	2.64	2.63	2.65	2.64	2.63	2.57	2.61	2.61
1 ALSTREE		2.95	2,24	2.95		3-07	2.63	2.60	2.64	2.57	2.55	2.57	2.30	2.63	2.63	2.57	2.59	2.59	2.56	2.52
Cycle																				
		786	887	766	1201	1209	1051	THOL	1510	1626	1764	1804	1905	1906	છ્યા					
IN SIGK		2.28	2.22	2.28	o£•t	1.52	1.29	1.05	1.34	1.30	1.20	1.31	717	1.62	1.22					
AL SOLID		1.94	8	1.94	3.98	1.67	8.1	1.96	1.95	2.03	1.99	1.92	1.99	2.62	1.95				-	
III SGARTA		2.41	2.46	2.43	2.46	2.38	2.39	2.38	2.37	2.33	2.33	2.28	2.30	2.38	2.30			-		
NI 56CE2		2.34	2.39	2.38	2.44	2.39	2.37	2.37	2.37	2.33	2.35	2.25	2.33	2.37	2.31					
<b>ELSOARS</b>	-	2.¥8	2.52	2.46	2.47	2.46	S. 12	2.42	2-39	2.54	2.46	2.39	2.43	2.57	2.46			-		
m54mc6		2.64	2.56	2.61	2.61	2.54	2.¥5	2.54	2.52	2.64	2.61	2.52	2.59	2.69	2.57					
<b>2153408</b>		2.31	2.39	2.33	2.56	2.41	2.43	2.47	2.44	2.51	2.47	2.38	2.12	2.54	75.37			_		
Instan		2.52	2.51	2.48	2.51	2.48	2.46	2.50	2.46	2.59	2.54	2.44	2.5	2.57	2.48				_	
II STREE		2.46	2.46	2.41	2.47	2.42	2-39	2.46	2.50	2.55	2.48	2.37	2. 9	2.57	2.51					
	1									i		_								
Test Berl Macaurosa Cell Tesp	rements at Condit reture:	Space B tion; In 60 C	Vacuum	t Thermal	Cycling.															
Light Int	ensity:		, 1000																	

•

CELLS
SOLAR
CdS
FOR
CYCLES
vs.
EFFICIENCY
CONVERSION

TABLE IO:

MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

i	ł		a I	K N			literte.														
	•"	N	6	9T	R	ħ	4	9	8	3	B	Ŕ	ц	8	8	8	<b>106</b>	Ņ	5YT	3	
ISICIA	8	ğ	ğ	FOT	g	101	8	101	8	8	8	97	101	ğ	8	g	8	56	8	ä	
11501E6	32	8	ä	For	ą	ផ	8	8	8	ğ	ğ	103	τοι	ai	đ	đ	ធ	g	ğ	ğ	
II South	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	זסו	<b>1</b> 00	8	8	8	8	76	8	8	
1156002	8.	8	IOI	IOI	8	8	8	8	<u>%</u>	8	8	ğ	đ	ş	đ	Įğ	ğ	16	8	8	
<b>ELSENES</b>	R	101	100	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	<del>8</del> 6	97	8	86	8	8	*	8	97	8	
IISA IS	8	8	g	101	8	97	8	8	85	8	100	ĸ	16	86	8	86	97	35	52	8	
D5408	217	ğ	100	8	đ	Q	101	8	101	ŢQŢ	100	100	व्य	8	IOL	8	8	97	8	8	
Insken	88	20	TOT	103	TOT	EOT	ğ	38	ğ	ส	103	102	105	εστ	ğ	103	103	ğ	12	ģ	
2 1/51	58	101	ŝ	8	8	Ţ	ĮQĮ	101	8	301	100	100	ä	101	801	8	101	8	8	101	
Set.		193	208	502	ŧ	245	8	8	370	133	191	864	8	533	534	553	554	83	623	827	
in Starts		76	8	97	8	8	76	*	8	8	*	*	93	93	93	93	93	8	R	93	
90.051		BI	Į	8	8	8	ğ	ğ	ផ្ត	ğ	8	100	8	EQI	8	8	91	8	8	8	
nssarb		*	8	8	*	93	93	<b>X</b>	32	93	t	93	93	ц Б	8	8	87	8	8	16	
1156022		8	8	97	<u>۶</u>	ま	z	93	*	8	8	16	<b>K</b>	87	93	8	83	83	8	84	
1156415		5	8	8	8	8	8	8	93	8	8	8	6	8	×	đ	93	8	8	87	
<b>ID54BE6</b>		8	07	8	8	93	95	8	a,	8	93	93	16	8	93	93	z	5	8	16	
ILS3AE8		8	8	76	*	æ	ŧ	14	R	84	8	8	đ	đ	8	8	8			8	
nsken		đ	81	101	100	8	97	8	100	8	97	97	8	26	8	8	31	8	2	ы	
12/12		8	76	86		102	87	88	88	<b>3</b> 6	đ	સ્ક	R	10	87	<del>8</del> 5	8	88	5	ಹ	
35																				T	
OFT TO		796	887	991	1204	6021	1001	1 tot	1510	1526	Tol	1804	1905	1906	TECZ			-+			
ID 51CEN		8	8	8	53	છ	25	3	54	53	8	53	47	8	12						
11.50116		8	8	86	91	8	ま	91	8	ğ	8	35	8	8	8					Τ	
nssarh		8	8	91	8	\$	89	8	ଞ	87	87	ર	8	8	86					T	
1156022		R	33	8	25	53	8	8	8	8	31	81	8	ĸ	8			•		T	
<b>ILSGARS</b>		<b>95</b>	98	<b>8</b>	10	84	83	83	ม	5	æ	ม	<u>3</u> 3	8	¶8					T	
DISALDS		66	38	88	88	86	83	88	85	8	8	36	87	ы	87					T	
<b>115346</b> 8		8	<b>£</b>	8	6	85	8	8	87	æ	38	渴	:8	8,	<b>8</b>					Τ	
III SACID		93	33	8K	83	84	61	8	31	8	ま	8	8	8	8						
22/122		81	19	8	8	98	62	81	83	đ	8	78	R	85	83						
Test Bariz	te Condite				Cycling																
Cell Year	ersture: seity:	60°C 160 ∎/a	2 , <b>1</b> 0																		

MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

TABLE 11: RELATIVE MAXIMUM FOWER VS. CYCLES FOR CAS SOLAR CELLS

ř			at with																	
		Ň	6	Я Я	2	ħ	4	9	8	3	ħ	ĸ	7	ß	8	<del>3</del> 5	108	34	143	প্র
ID SLOCK	106	100	100	101	đ	8	গ	101	36	ă	3	202	100	ð	301	ğ	201	201	305	303
1150116	00	100	901	8	8	8	ផ្ដែ	ផ	101	đ	ğ	ğ	Tot	ŢŎŢ	101	101	IOL	306	IOL	101
<b>III SGAR</b> A	, 113	8	8	8	Ŋ		Tot	101	101	101	22	103	102	102	103	705	20	103	201	Eo1
In Secto	ត្	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	TOT	8	101	101	,100	זסנ	TOL	99	Ŋ
ELESCALS	614.	8	8	101	ğ	8	TOT	101	ផ្អ	IOT	ផ	ğ	101	106	101	ğ	101	101	זסו	ଷ୍ପ
IIS NEG	214-	8	8	8	8	101	8	ą	ą	a	g		Ħ	ğ	ğ	ផ្ត	ğ	ð	a	TOT
IL53ALG	914.	E01	Ŋ	IJ	TOT	101	TOT TOT	ğ	201	23	g	E01	FOT	ğ	101	EQ1	103	700	201	εστ
II SHOT	614.	TOT	বি	Į	8	ផ	Ę	101	36	305	8	ø	8	20	100	ğ	103	100	81	ğ
11571	604	TOT	ğ	8	8	ផ្ត	8	101	101	ŝ	ğ	ğ	101	R	103	TOT	103	102	ğ	103
CALL.		193	808 808	602	244	245	8	Å	e E	<b>4</b> 33	19	8	<b>66</b> 4	533	534	553	554	88	652	738
Cell Bo.																				
III SICKI		100	EO1	201	103	Ъ	8	100	105	EQ1	ă	103	103	203	đ	ag	100	103	EQ1	for
1150BK6		IOI	ផ្ត	ğ	8	106	101	q	100	8	9	뎕	101	EQI	101	101	101	ğ	זסד	102
III 5 GAR4		tot	EO1	ğ	101	101	100	103	ğ	EOT	Fo1	101	NOL	TOF	103	103	8	104	105	205
III 56CIC2		101	200	100	101	8	101	101	8	8	101	101	102	101	101	101	8	8	100	102
<b>RISGAUS</b>		HOL	g	302	302	tot	100	102	101	306	101	305	101	302	305	30	ğ	ğ	18	103
<b>BILSWard</b>		102	103	TOT	103	TOT	100	102	101	302	106	103	B	ğ	IQI	ğ	FOT	ğ	305	103
BISSARB		103	EQ1	ġ	101		103	8	æ	Fot	EOT	103	102	103	100	EQ1	103	103	Eor	104
		εστ	Ø	JOE	103	101	301	ğ	30	ğ	ğ	103	8	100	<b>501</b>	102	306	306	Eot	103
ILL STREE		103	102	TOT		g	8	100	001	8	101	101	93	103	TOT	101	101	ğ	301	102
Cycle				,																
		786	967	766	1204	<b>502</b>	1301	1404	1510	1626	1764	1Bok	1905	1906	2031					
IN SIGN		Tot	εστ	501	8	8	93	Ъ,	8	8	52	98	98	100	76					
ILL SOBAGO		τατ	τοτ	τοτ	TOT	TOT	נסנ	IOI	τοτ	TOT	101	101	101	100	ğ					
<b>BLSGAK</b> 4		105	305	Ś	701 2	τατ	802	106	ରୁ	101	105	104	105	107	SUL					
IL 56CE2		ଅନ୍	LOI	202	for	205	105	Eot.	EOI	90	101	101	103	R	102					
<b>N'ESGAUS</b>		705	το3	EOL	TOL	EOI	NOT	306	EOL	104	104	103	101	101	70					
<b>NDSAmo</b>		EQ1	EQT .	103	203	202	202	203	103	103	101	202	104	103	103			_		
IL 53AE8		202	20T	HOT	201	ğ	103	HOL	501	103	Eot	103	TO	Бă	103					
III SHORE		To3	TOF	<b>501</b>	HOL	201	501	TON	TOF	104	5OT	203	Ŋ	103	101					
<b>D5762</b>		201		201	202	TOT	302	EQI	102	Eat	103	100	102	30	Eot					
																				-
fest Bavis		dince 1	arinaza		Sycilia															
	R CONGL		2																	
	insity:	10 m/a																		

MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

RELATIVE OPEN CIRCUIT VOLTAGE VS. CYCLES FOR CAS SOLAR CELLS TABLE 12:

2         9         16         33         34         45         45         59         66         73         76         71           100         100         100         101         101         101         101         100         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100		100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100 <th>xi         xi         xi&lt;</th> <th>3         5         6         5         2         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8</th>	xi         xi<	3         5         6         5         2         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		%         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %	8 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	<b>8</b> 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
99         101         101         100         100         99         100         101         100         100         99         99         100         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99	1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	101         103         103           99         99         96           99         90         96           90         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         30         98           95         30         98           96         98         98           910         100         98           95         30         98           96         98         98           97         100         100           98         30         30           99         30         30           96         38         36           97         100         100           98         30         30           98         30         30           98         30         30           98         30         30           30         30         30           30         30         30	2 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	8 & g & 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 &
101         101         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100 <td>2 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 8 8 3 8 8 3 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8</td> <td>99         99         96           99         99         96           99         96         96           91         100         96           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         30         98</td> <td>8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9</td> <td>8 12 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8</td>	2 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 8 8 3 8 8 3 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	99         99         96           99         99         96           99         96         96           91         100         96           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         30         98	8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9         9	8 12 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
100         101         202         101         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100 <td>2 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3</td> <td>103         103         100           99         99         98           90         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         98         98</td> <td><b>a a a a a a a a a a</b></td> <td>5 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8</td>	2 1 1 1 1 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	103         103         100           99         99         98           90         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         100         98           95         98         98	<b>a a a a a a a a a a</b>	5 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
99         100         101         100         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         99         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100<	98 101 101 102 102 103 103 103 103 103 103 103 103 103 103	39         39         36           100         100         98         98           100         100         98         98           100         100         98         98           100         100         98         98           100         100         98         98           100         100         98         98           100         100         98         98	<b>&amp; &amp; </b>	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100         100 <td>98 101 1 101 101 1 1001 1 1001 1 1001 1</td> <td>100 100 98 100 100 98 553 51 554 88</td> <td>8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8</td> <td>**************************************</td>	98 101 1 101 101 1 1001 1 1001 1 1001 1	100 100 98 100 100 98 553 51 554 88	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	**************************************
101         99         100         101         99         99         100         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         102         101         102         102         103         102         103         102         103         102         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103         103	1 101 101 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	100 98 101 100 103 101 553 554 95 86	4         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8         8	888 <u>8</u> 58888
100         96         90         101         100         102         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101	101 101 1 100 1 100 1	101 100 103 101 553 554 95 96	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	8 8 <u>8</u> 5 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 5 8
100         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         101         103           1/3         206         309         244         245         280         346         317         441         406         499           96         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         99           94         95         96         96         96         96         96         97         96         97         96           94         95         94         96         96         96         96         96         97         96         97         96           94         95         96         96         96         96         96         97         96         97         96           94         95         96         96         96         96         96         97         96         97         96           94         95         96	100	103 101 553 554 95 <b>9</b> 6	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
103         206         309         244         245         370         333         464         406         409           96         96         95         94         99         96         10         10         10         10           94         95         94         95         94         100         100         97         96         95           94         95         94         96         97         100         100         100         100         96           94         95         94         96         96         96         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93	3 23 <del>4</del> 5	553 554 95 96	5) 6 6 6 83 8 8 8 8	≈ <b>5</b> 838
%6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6         %6<		95 96	885	5 8 3 8 5 8 5 8
%         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %         %		95 <b>9</b> 6	888	5 8 8 8 8 5 8 5 8
99         99         96         97         101         102         100         100         100         99           94         95         95         94         95         96         96         99         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95 <td< td=""><td>5</td><td></td><td>8 <del>8</del></td><td>58 51 58 58 54 58</td></td<>	5		8 <del>8</del>	58 51 58 58 54 58
94         95         94         96         96         96         96         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95<	97 1	101	5	5 8 5 8
101         102         102         94         96         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         93         93         93           95         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         96         97         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         9	33	<u> 95</u>		8
44         95         91         91         96         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93<	5	8	2 2 2	
95         96         97         95 <b>96</b> 99         99         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         95         9	8	95 95	3	68 
96         95         94         93         95         94         91         89         87         87         86         87           96         96         96         97         98         102         98         102         99         96         97         95           97         96         96         97         98         102         94         107         95         97         95           97         96         97         93         102         94         97         95         93           97         96         97         95         94         95         93         95         93	8	88 98	97 9	95 04
96         98         97         98         102         93         102         93         95         97         95         93         95         93         95         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         93         9	18	87 87	87 8	67 B4
97 96 98 97 95 98 97 95 93 95 93	5 95	96 97	9 7 9	*
	3 95	95 95	8	8
700 007 007 1004 1204 1209 1301 1404 1510 1626 1764 1804 1905	LF05			
<u>92</u> 93 91 89 89 87 88 89 90 89 88 87	16			
97 99 95 101 97 97 99 100 102 101 99 100	100			
<u>91 92 88 93 92 90 92 94 93 93 93</u>	76			
24 25 27 36 34 34 36 34 38 37 36 35	95			
88 89 84 90 90 88 89 89 90 90 99 89 90	68			
<u>94</u> <u>90</u> <u>95</u> <u>94</u> <u>53</u> <u>97</u> <u>96</u> <u>95</u>	91			
82 87 87 96 94 92 93 92 95 34 92 90	8			
94 93 98 96 95 94 96 92 99 98 86 86	8			
<u>22</u> <u>93</u> <u>91</u> <u>92</u> <u>90</u> <u>92</u> <u>90</u> <u>95</u> <u>91</u> <u>91</u>	15			

TABLE 13: RELATIVE SHORT CIRCUIT CURRENT VS. CYCLES FOR CAS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

210	4	11 facto	rs in this	colu	ut the e	ctual fil	1 factor	I, in per	cent.											
Out In-	ہ۔ +	N	6	<b>J</b> Í	22	ЧР.	7	<b>84</b>	59	ઝ	Ę	92	Ц	8	8	95	108	142	143	362
III SICK	61	100	100	16	R	102	10	201	8	8	<del>8</del> 6	95	100	96	98	86	97	96	100	ğ
<b>BI</b> SOBIC	88	100	8	3	8	101	8	16	76	100	100	100	FOT	57	200	8	lol	100	97	101
<b>III 56AK</b> <sup>1</sup>	65	8	8	97	8	52	<u>8</u> 6	86	97	8	8	98	98	93	97	16	26	100	26	100
IIISécuco	65	8	8	8	8	8	10	8	97	8	18	8	8	98	100	16	100	<b>\$</b> 6	97	97
IIIS6AES	3	ğ	8	8	96	8	8	8	98	8	8	16	96	98	57	<u>8</u> 6	26	18	<u>8</u> ,	100
alshan6	67	8	IQ	8	97	8	76	8	<del>9</del> 6	8	8	8	46	25	8	ъ	8	26	ま	101
ILS WEB	65	97	8	105	8	100	81	98	8,	8	8	98	98	85	97	97	98	100	57	100
IIIShara	67	102	103	103	100	101	8	10	8	8	100	8	Tot	101	8	8	8	103	101	IOI
IN1573K2	65	100	100	100	8	100	100	98	97	8	97	97	16	<u>9</u> 8	86	95	97	8	- 26	ğ
Cycle		193	208	8	244	245	8	\$	370	433	191	<b>4</b> 98	661	533	485	553	554	83	652	738
										,,										Π
MISICK <sup>4</sup>		100	8	86	102	8	57	76	95	97	86	95	95	16	86	95	95	95	8	31
IL SORK6		100	100	IOL	IOL	100	<b>0</b> 2	8	10	IOI	8	8	8	100	8	76	57	97	97	8
IL SGAK4		79	- 26	57	8	55	8	8	92	5	3	10	10	10	95	8	16	32	8	9k
M156GK2		đ.	8	16	8	97	95	76	16	16	16	8	95	đ	97	25	88	85	95	す
ID SOAKS		100	97	96	<u></u> 86	98	95	95	57	95 1	97	95	46	95	97	46	52	94	88	8
MI54RK6		8	8	97	8	97	46	93	93	46	8	94	93	9k	46	93	93	16	93	93
K153AK3		96	97	100	<b>9</b> 6	56	95	<b>6</b> 6	60	86	91	8	91	91	32	46	94	8	91	9k
IIS+CK		101	8	זסו	100	8	94	52	*	57	8	97	101	8	ğ	8	52	8	57	10
M157BK2		79	98	86		102	69	91	68	69	8	68	88	91	ы	66	69	<b>9</b> 8	88	88
Cycle		786	166	166	TROF	1209	1301	1404	1510	1525	:164	1	1905	1905	1E32				-	
Cell 10.																				
nsicat		97	ま	100	63	02	64	52	63	<u>.</u>	57	1	56	22	56					
III SOBKĆ		91	8	100	8	10	-36	96	8	96	ę.	ŧ	8	35	94					
III 56AK4		đ	す	72	91	91	16	89	83	88	33	5	88	22	36					
m56ck2		<b>4</b> 6	95	ま	95	35	ち	16	46	31	92	<b>5:</b>	62	<del>.</del>	55	'				
M156AK5		đ	đ	ы	8	8	8	37	89	36	Ľy	6	63	32	8					
1542K6		8	53	8	88	8	æ	87	88	87	87	85	15	D C	87					
III 53ALCB		ま	đ	8	8	\$	91	89	16	16	3	62	91	51	83			-		
M154CK		8	8	8	ま	46	お	93	33	93	53	16	5	та,	93					
IL STRC		88	*8	8	8	8	86	86	£	36	35	Q <sub>2</sub>	ζp	2	36					
																-				
Test Buvin	ouent:	Space Rr.	ri romant	Therease it	Jellag										2 2 2			a.		
Cell Terpe	t condici	н 	Vacut																	
Light late	maity: ]		, <b>2</b> 0																	

CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

# RELATIVE FILL FACTOR VS. CYCLES FOR

TABLE 14:

States and the second second



Figure 42 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968



Figure 43 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968



# Figure 44 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

92

1.34



# Figure 45 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968



# Figure 46 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968



# Figure 47 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

A State of the second of the



# Figure 48 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968



4

# Figure 49 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968



# Figure 50 ELECTRICAL PERFORMANCE VS CYCLES FOR CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED IN MARCH, 1968

Table 15: POST-CYCLING PERFORMANCE OF CdS SOLAR CELLS MANUFACTURED DURING MARCH 1968

•	, <b>I</b>						82	RFORMANCE	- NEASUREI	VENT SEQUE	RE					
	_ <b>_</b>	TEST AT CYCLE	2 MONTHS		HOURS	L HOUH	FIRST POST- CYCLING TFST	- 24 HOURS	SECOND POST- CYCLING TEST	2 HOURS	- HOUR	THIRD POST- CYCLING TEST	20 HOURS		18 HOURS	
	-1- <b>1</b> -		- SULING -						- POST-CY	CLING -						
	┹┈╄				ENVIRG	DIAMENT CON	ILTIONS DU	RING AND BI	ETHEEL PER	FORMANCE 1	ESTS					
		VACTURE	VACITIEN	VACUUH	VACUUN	NI TROGEN	NI TROGEN	NI TROGEN	NI TROGEN	NI TROGEN	AIR	AIR	AIR	AIR	AIR	AIR
	_ <b>#</b> =					PRESSUI	RE IN VACU	UM CHAMBER	(torr)							
	1 <b>d</b>	<b>ال</b>	<mark>8</mark> ـ٦	9-D1	10-8		AMBIENT JEDACE CEI	AMBIENT	AMBIENT IRF ( <sup>O</sup> C)	ANBIENT	ANBIENT	ANBIENT	ANBIERT	ABLENT	ANBIENT	TIEIBA
		¥	8	g	RISING FROM _10	10		25	20	25	25	ន	25	8	R	88
	L	2	3	3	11.11	5										
	<del>مدنام من</del>	N	HO SHOH	NO	OFF	OFF	ON LIG	HI MOOF	NO	OFF	OFF	NO	ØFF	ĸ	ŒF	8
	ELL	5				FEB	FORMANCE D	ATA HEASUR	ed under 1	THE ENVIRON	MENTAL CO	I SKOLTION	NDICATED A	SUE (		
		D.					RELATIVE	MAX I NUN PO	HER, Pu/P	(1), perc	ant					
		220		11			80		62	-		91		16		Ŧ
	9690 9690 11888X2 700AK3	339 329 210 210		25528			<u>30008</u>	9.000 Law 19.00 - 10 (0.00 Law 19.00 Law	272 272 272 272 272 272 272 272 272 272			8288		КК В		
> >	904K5 904K5 904K1 904K1	251 234 234		822333			382383					*******		- <b></b>		388833
	SUAKY 1	<b>\$</b> \$2		6	-		RELATIV	E OPEN CIR	CULT VOLTA	GE, V <sub>OC</sub> V <sub>0</sub>	c <sup>(1)</sup> , perc	ent				
2 V	8026	0.443		102			101		102			57		101		6
< #ZZ	969D H188AK2 H200AK3 89CK7	0.425 0.426 0.425 0.424	1	8582			3 <u>5</u> 285		*2232			෪෪෪෪ඁ		:8883 <u>5</u>		388885
m	90AK5 90AK5 20AK1	0.416		<u> 2</u> 8822	# 10,8,0000000000000000000000000000000000		7696		- 88833			30,000				<u>3</u> 0-88
							RELATI	VE SHORT C	IRCUIT CUF	RENT, I <sub>SC</sub>	I <sub>SC</sub> (1), p	ercent				
2	9708 9690	1095 1075		88			888		883			ž6		366		<b>3</b> 55
	H1 88 AK2 11200 AK3 89 CK7	992 992 992		3223			*283		<u>-2888</u>			*23.53 		ਫ਼ੑਫ਼ਲ਼		ন্দ্রন্নন্র
	908K4		-1	8859 			2222		2222			अअम		348		න්ත්ත්
			   				BELV.	LIVE FILL F	ACTOR, FF	/FF (1), p	ercent					
2	10201 10201 10201	388		26	-		88		68			<b>5</b> 43		8 <b>7</b>		8₹
	H188AK2 H200AK3	828		28		pr. stag	82		200			<b>2</b> 83		833		
(7)	900K4	¥288		8855	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							ත්තසින		3553556		28286
]	NALAKY	a⊅®	All data	l is correc 	ted to 60 <sup>0</sup>	oc. Light	intensity tive valu	was 140 m Ps niven i	W/cm2, ANO n the indi	), during t cated unit	he entire s	test prog	ran. Cell	s ware moun	ited in the	e Vacuum
		¥			1 2 20103	-171 1011-										
#### Cell Number N150BK6

This cell was the most stable cell thus far tested. After 2031 cycles, its  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$  and FF' values were 96, 102, 100 and 94 percent.

This cell was different from the others in that it had an evaporated grid beneath the standard preformed grid. It is significant that the  $I_{sc}$ ' of this cell did not degrade.

#### Cell Number N156CK2

The behavior of this cell is fairly representative of the eight cells whose  $P_M'$  ranged between 83 and 96 percent after 2031 cycles. After 2031 cycles, the  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' of this cell were 90, 102, 95, and 92 percent, respectively. A degraded I-V curve of this cell is shown in Figure 51.

#### Increase in Series Resistance

Based on the calculated effects of  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_o$ , and A on the performance of a typical CdS solar cell (Figures 16 to 20), the observed loss in FF' of cell N156CK2 was due to a change in either series resistance or shunt resistance. The reasons are:

- (1) A 0.03-ohm increase in  $R_s$  would produce the experimental 92-percent FF' without changing  $V_{cc}$ '.
- (2) A 15.2-ohm decrease in  $R_{sh}$  would also produce the experimental 92-percent FF' without changing  $V_{oc}$ '.
- (3) Changes in I do not significantly affect FF'.
- (4) Changes in  $I_0$  and A which result in experimental FF' drastically reduce  $V_{0c}$ ', an effect which did not occur.

The R<sub>oc</sub> measured from the I-V curve increased from 0.09-ohms to 0.13-ohms between cycle-1 and cycle 2031. This corresponds to a 0.027-ohm increase in series resistance (Figure 21). This suggests that series resistance was responsible for the degradation in FF' and hence part of the power loss.



VOLTAGE (volts)

Figure 51: DEGRADED I-V CURVE OF A MARCH 1968 SOLAR CELL

#### Decrease in Light Generated Current

Based on the calculated effects of  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ ,  $I_g$ , and A on the performance of a typical CdS solar cell (Figures 16 to 20), the observed loss in  $I_{sc}$  of cell N156CK2 was due to a loss in light generated current. Here are the reasons:

- (1) A five-percent decrease in I produced the experimental 95-percent  $I_{sc}$  'without an accompanying loss in  $V_{oc}$ '.
- (2) Changes in  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ , or A which could produce the observed  $I_{sc}$  are accompanied by a drastic loss in  $V_{oc}$  which did not occur.

Low light intensity could explain the five-percent decrease in I. However, this evidence indicates that the light intensity was not too low:

- (1) The I ' of one CdS test-cell (No. NH150BK6) was still 100 percent after 2031 cycles.
- (2) The I of one of the silicon reference cells varied less than 2.5 percent between cycle-1 and cycle-2031.
- (3) The transmission of the quartz window degraded less than one percent, according to measurements made with the CdS standard cell before and after the test.
- (4) The I of all the control cells at cycle 2031 were within two percent of their initial values.

Gaseous nitrogen, and then air, were admitted to the vacuum chamber after completion of cycling. No significant recovery in the I ' of sc cell N156CK2 was observed (Table 15). Measurements made in air on the temperature controlled block produced an I' of 93 percent, a value not significantly different from the 95 percent value obtained in situ at cycle 2031. In general, this group of cells did not exhibit a significant recovery in I'. The average in situ I' of these eight sc cells was 95 percent, at cycle 2031, and 93 percent in air after removal from the chamber. Apparently the losses in I' were permanent.

It seems significant that the losses in  $I_{sc}$  ' cannot be explained by changes in  $R_s$ ,  $R_{sh}$ ,  $I_g$ , or A; only a decrease in  $I_g$  can explain the observed permanent loss in  $I_{sc}$ '. Since Kapton covers have been demonstrated to be unaffected by UV in vacuum, the cause of the decrease in  $I_g$  cannot be explained at this time.

#### Cell Number N151CK4

After 2031 cycles, the  $P_M'$ ,  $V_{oc}'$ ,  $I_{sc}'$ , and FF' values of this cell were 49, 97, 91 and 56 percent respectively. The fact that both FF' and  $V_{oc}'$  degraded suggests that much of this degradation was caused by a decrease in shunt resistance. The degraded I-V curves exhibited an erratic form of hysteresis and approximated a straight line between  $I_{sc}$  and  $V_{oc}$ .

#### Summary of Testing of March, 1968 Cells

The March, 1968 cells were the most stable yet tested, the maximum powers degrading, on the average, to 88 percent of initial. Two of these cells had evaporated grids. One evaporated-grid cell lasted over 2000 cycles with only a 4 percent power loss. The second evaporated-grid cell degraded slowly to 92 percent at 997 cycles after which it degraded suddenly to 53 percent. Power losses in other cells resulted from increased series resistance and decreased lightgenerated current. The loss in light-generated current could not have been caused by a loss of illumination or by degradation of the Kapton covers, nor did it disappear after the cells were removed from the chamber. No satisfactory explanation is available.

Several of these newest cells exhibited the effects of internal short circuits, a common problem with every cell design tested in this program.

#### 7.0 CONCLUSIONS

As a result of the testing conducted in this program, the following conclusions have been reached:

- Most CdS solar cells exhibit a loss in power when exposed to

   a simulated space environment involving thermal cycling. It
   is not clear what aspects of the environment contribute to
   the observed losses.
- 2. Some CdS solar cells can withstand over 2000 thermal cycles in a simulated space environment without significant loss in power. One cell degraded by only four percent in maximum power in 2031 cycles.
- 3. The most recently manufactured cells degraded less than earlier cells. A more favorable electrical loading during exposure to the simulated space environment could have contributed to the better performance. Improved quality of the cells could be another contributor.
- 4. Use of an evaporated gold grid results in a solar cell that is potentially more stable than one having a grid bonded with epoxy.
- 5. Internal short circuits in CdS solar cells result in large and unpredictable decreases in power output. Eliminating these short-circuits would enhance the usefulness of CdS solar cells for space power applications. Shorts occurred in some cells in each of the three manufacturing batches tested.
- A more subtle but significant cause of degradation in the recent cells (November, 1967 and March, 1968) is an increase in the series resistance of the cells.
- 7. Another significant cause of degradation in all the cells is a decrease in their light-generated currents. Sometimes the degraded light-generated current recovers after the test.

No satisfactory explanation for this loss in light-generated current is available at this time.

8. A CdS-cell mathematical model is a useful tool for analyzing I-V curves to establish the causes of cell degradation.

#### 8.0 REFERENCES

- 1. Shirland, Fred A.: The History, Design, Fabrication and Performance of CdS Thin Film Solar Cells. Aavanced Energy Conversion, vol. 6, 1966, pp. 201-222.
- 2. Ewashinka, John G.; and Stephenson, George K., Jr.: Thermal Cycling and Heat Damage Tests of Thin-Film Cadmium Sulfide Solar Cells. NASA TN D-3038, 1965.
- 3. Spakowski, Adolph E., and Ewashinka, John G.: Thermal Cycling of Thin-Film Cadmium Sulfide Solar Cells. NASA TN D-3556, 1966.
- 4. Kennerud, K. L.: Space Environment Tests on Thin-Film Solar Cells. Contract NAS3-6008 Topical Report, A Summary of Work Completed in Phases I and II, 1967.
- 5. Spakowski, A. E.; and Kennerud, K.L.: Environmental Testing of Thin-Film Solar Cells. Sixth Photovoltaic Specialists Conference, Vol. 1, IEEE, 1967, pp. 201-209.
- C. Shirland, F. A.; Bower, W. K.; and Green, J.R.: CdS Solar C-11 Development. Contract NAS3-9434, Interim Technical Report, NASA CR-72382, 1968.
- 7. Spakowski, A.E.: Acampora, F. L.; and Hart, R. E.Jr.: Effect of Moisture on Cadmium Sulfide Solar Cells. NASA TND-3663, 1966.
- 3. Anagnostou, Evelyn: Effect of Ultraviolet Irradiation on Selected Plastic Films In Vacuum. NASA TM X-1124, 1965.
- 9. Handbook of Geophysics, Chapter 16.3, Solar Radiation Tables, pp. 16-16 and 16-17, McMillan Company, 1960.
- Scarborough, J. B., Numerical Mathematical Analysis, pp 192-194, Johns Hopkins Fress, 1958.
- 11. Spakowski, A. E.; and Forestieri, A.F.: Observations on CdS Solar Cell Stability. NASA TMX-52485, 1968.

#### 9.0 APPENDIX

### SUMMARY OF EQUATIONS AND SYMBOL LIST Equations

$$\begin{split} & \gamma = \frac{P_{M}}{(S)(A)} \times 100 = (.013) P_{M} \\ & P_{M} = P_{MU} + K_{MP} (T_{R} - T) \\ & V_{oc} = V_{ocU} + K_{ocV} (T_{R} - T) \\ & FF = \frac{P_{M}}{(V_{oc})(I_{Sc})} \times 100 \\ & P_{M}' = P_{M}/P_{M}(1) \\ & V_{oc}' = V_{oc}/V_{oc}(1) \\ & I_{Sc}' = I_{Sc}/I_{Sc}(1) \\ & FF' = FF/FF(1) \\ & R_{oc} = -\left[\frac{\Delta V}{\Delta I}\right]_{I=0} \\ & I = I_{o}\left\{\exp\left[\frac{q}{AkT} (V - IR_{s})\right] - 1\right\} - I_{g} + \frac{V - IR_{s}}{R_{sh}} \end{split}$$

#### Symbols

FF(1) = initial fill factor (percent)

FF' = relative fill factor (percent)

I = current output of cell (amperes)

# 9.0 APPENDIX (Cont.)

Ig	a	light generated current (amperes)
ĩ	×	reverse saturation current (amperes)
Isc	=	short circuit current (milliamperes)
I <sub>sc</sub> (1	) =	initial short circuit current (milliampere)
I <sub>sc</sub> ;	=	relative short circuit current (percent)
k	7	Boltzmann constant
K <sub>MP</sub>		temperature coefficient of maximum power $(mW/^{\circ}C)$
Kocv	=	temperature coefficient of open circuit voltage (volts/°C)
η	=	conversion efficiency (percent)
P <sub>M</sub>	=	corrected maximum power (milliwatts)
P <sub>M</sub> (1)	H	initial corrected maximum power (milliwatts)
P <sub>M</sub> '	=	relative maximum power (percent)
P <sub>MU</sub>	=	uncorrected maximum power (milliwatts)
٩	=	electronic charge
Roc	=	equivalent series resistance (ohms)
R s	п	series resistance (ohms)
R <sub>sh</sub>	=	shunt resistance (ohms)
S	<b>a</b> .	light intensity = $140 \text{ mW/cm}^2$
С' <sub>б</sub>	=	standard deviation
$\sigma_{M}$	=	maximum deviation
T	=	actual cell temperature (°C)
TR	-	reference cell temperature (°C)
V	Ξ	voltage appearing at cell terminals (volts)
Voc	=	corrected open circuit voltage (volts)
v <sub>oc</sub> (1	) =	initial corrected open circuit voltage (volts)

## 9.0 APPENDIX (Cont.)

V<sub>oc</sub>' = relative open circuit voltage (percent)
V<sub>oc</sub> = uncorrected open circuit voltage (volts)
X = average

#### 10.0 NEW TECHNOLOGY

A new technique for identifying the cause of performance degradation in CdS thin-film solar cells was developed in this contract. This technique uses a digital computer to calculate the changes in internal cell parameters that can satisfactorily explain the I-V curve being analyzed. A complete description of the technique appears in Section 6.1, and a summery is provided below.

The computer program generates the I-V curve of a CdS solar cell from a set of 5 physically meaningful parameters. Each of these five parameters is varied individually, and its effect on the I-V curve of a typical CdS solar cell is determined. The maximum power ( $P_M$ ) open circuit voltage, ( $V_{oc}$ ) short circuit current, ( $I_{sc}$ ) and fill factor (FF) are then plotted as functions of each parameter. The resulting curves are then compared with the experimental values of  $P_M$ ,  $V_{oc}$ ,  $I_{sc}$ , FF obtained from CdS test-cells which degraded during thermal cycling. The parameter which changed to cause the degradation then becomes apparent.